#### University of Alberta

#### A Graph-Theoretic Approach to the Construction of Lyapunov Functions for Coupled Systems on Networks

by

Zhisheng Shuai

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Applied Mathematics

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

© Zhisheng Shuai Fall 2010 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

### **Examining Committee**

Michael Li, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

Arno Berger, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

James Muldowney, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

Hao Wang, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

Bin Han, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

Horacio Marquez, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Hal Smith, Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Arizona State University

To my parents, wife, and daughters

### ABSTRACT

For coupled systems of differential equations on networks, a graph-theoretic approach to the construction of Lyapunov functions is systematically developed in this thesis. Kirchhoff's Matrix-Tree Theorem in graph theory plays an essential role in the approach's development. The approach is successfully applied to several coupled systems well-known in the literature to demonstrate its applicability and effectiveness.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would sincerely like to express my thanks to all the people who assisted me to complete this thesis.

First, I would like to express my deep and sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Michael Li. During my Ph.D. study, Professor Li has always given me his strong support, continuous encouragement, and invaluable advice. Without his patience and generous support, as well as his critical comments during the thesis writing period, this thesis would not have come as far as it did. I was fortunate to have Professor Li as my supervisor.

I would like to express my thanks to my co-supervisor, Professor Arno Berger, for many suggestions and comments on this thesis. I am deeply indebted to Professor James Muldowney for his support and guidance throughout my study. Many thanks go to Professor Bin Han, Professor Horacio Marquez, and Professor Hao Wang at the University of Alberta and Professor Hal Smith at Arizona State University for their help and comments on the thesis.

I would like to express my appreciation to Professor John Moon for his valuable suggestions and constructive advice on graph theory. I also thank many student colleagues, Dr. Hongbin Guo, Dr. Qian Wang, Dr. Chuncheng Wang, Dr. Yu Jin, Mr. Aaron Lam, Mr. John Maidens, Ms. Hongyin Shu, Mr. Peng Du, and Ms. Betsy Varughese, for providing a stimulating and friendly environment in which to learn and grow.

Financial support from an Izaak Walton Killam Memorial Scholarship, a Chinese Government Award, a Provost Doctoral Entrance Award, an Eoin L. Whitney Scholarship, a Josephine M. Mitchell Scholarship, and a Josephine M. Mitchell Research Prize is gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, none of this would have been possible without the enduring love and faith of my parents, my wife Dr. Limin Yang, and my daughters. To them this thesis is dedicated.

## **Table of Contents**

#### Chapter 1. Introduction

Cł	apte	er 2. A Graph-Theoretic Approach to the Construction of	•
	Lya	punov Functions	6
	2.1	Definitions and notations from graph theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	6
	2.2	Matrix-Tree Theorem and combinatorial identities	8
	2.3	Coupled systems on networks	11
	2.4	Construction of Lyapunov functions for coupled systems $\ . \ .$	13
	2.5	An application to stability problems	18
	2.6	Discussion	20
Cł	napto	er 3. Applications to Ordinary Differential Equation	
	Mo	dels	22
	3.1	A model for coupled oscillators	23
	3.2	A single-species model in a patchy environment $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	26
	3.3	A Volterra food web	30
	3.4	A patchy predator-prey model	32
	3.5	An SIR epidemic model in a patchy environment $\ . \ . \ . \ .$	36
	3.6	A multi-group SEIR epidemic model	44

 $\mathbf{1}$ 

### Chapter 4. Applications to Delay Differential Equation

Models		52
4.1	A patchy single-species model with finite delay	52

4.2	A multi-group epidemic model with infinite distributed delay .	57					
Chapter 5. Applications to Stochastic Differential Equation							
Models							
5.1	Preliminaries	69					
5.2	A patchy predator-prey model with random perturbations $~$	71					
5.3	A multi-group SIR epidemic model with random perturbations	77					
Chapter 6. Future Research Directions							
Bibliography							

# List of Figures

2.1	A digraph and a spanning subgraph	7
2.2	A rooted tree and a unicyclic graph $\ldots$	7
2.3	A unicyclic graph is formed by adding a directed arc to a rooted	
	tree	10
2.4	A coupled system on a network	12
2.5	Coupled oscillators on a network	12
2.6	System coupled via dispersal	14
3.1	A coupled single-species system on a network $\hfill \hfill \ldots \hfill \h$	27
3.2	A Volterra food web	31
3.3	A coupled predator-prey system on a network $\ . \ . \ . \ .$ .	33
3.4	A coupled SIR model on a network $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	38
3.5	A multi-group SEIR model on a network	47
4.1	A coupled single-species system with delays	54
4.2	A multi-group model with delays	59
5.1	A coupled predator-prey system with random perturbations $% \left( {{{\mathbf{x}}_{i}}} \right)$ .	72
5.2	A multi-group SIR model with random perturbations	78

### Chapter 1. Introduction

The method of Lyapunov functions or the directed method of Lyapunov, named after Russian mathematician A. M. Lyapunov [85], is a standard tool in the stability theory of nonlinear differential equations. A difficulty in applying the method of Lyapunov functions is the ad hoc nature of the construction of a suitable Lyapunov function for the investigation; there is no general principle to guide such construction. In this thesis, for a large class of coupled systems of differential equations, we are able to develop a systematic approach that guides the construction of Lyapunov functions.

We start with a brief introduction to the method of Lyapunov functions. Let D be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^m$  and  $t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ . Consider a nonautonomous system

$$x' = f(t, x), \tag{1.1}$$

where  $f : [t_0, \infty) \times D \to \mathbb{R}^m$  is continuous. In the direct method of Lyapunov, real-valued functions V with the same domain as  $f, V : [t_0, \infty) \times D \to \mathbb{R}$ , are considered. From properties such as the sign of these functions and knowledge of the manner in which they evolve along solutions of (1.1), inferences are drawn about the qualitative behavior of the solutions. If x(t) satisfies (1.1) and v(t) = V(t, x(t)) is continuously differentiable and satisfies, for all t in its domain, a differential inequality of the form

$$v'(t) \le F(t, v(t)),$$
 (1.2)

with F continuous, then  $v(t) \leq u^*(t)$ , where  $u^*(t)$  is the maximal solution of the differential equation u' = F(t, u), for  $t \geq t_0$  as long as both x(t) and  $u^*(t)$ exist. An example of this is found when x is a state variable associated with a physical system whose behavior in time t is governed by a differential equation of the form (1.1) and V(t, x) is the energy in the state x at time t. Then  $V(t, x(t)) \leq V(t_0, x(t_0)), t \geq t_0$  as long as x(t) exists if it is known that energy dissipates so that V(t, x(t)) is non-increasing. In this example F(t, v) = 0 and  $u^*(t) = u^*(t_0) = V(t_0, x(t_0))$ . In particular, the system never achieves a state in which the energy is greater than that in the initial configuration.

We assume that a unique solution  $x(t; t_0, x_0)$  of (1.1) through  $(t_0, x_0)$  exists for all  $t \ge t_0$  and  $x_0 \in D$ . If  $V : [t_0, \infty) \times D \to \mathbb{R}$  is continuously differentiable on its domain and define the derivative  $\overset{\bullet}{V}$  along the solutions of (1.1) as

$$\overset{\bullet}{V}(t,x) := \frac{\partial V(t,x)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V(t,x)}{\partial x} f(t,x),$$
 (1.3)

then, with v(t) = V(t, x(t)),

$$v'(t) = V(t, x(t)) \tag{1.4}$$

when x(t) is a solution of (1.1).

The term Lyapunov function is not used with great consistency in the standard texts in differential equations. For instance the broadest use is in [61, page 80 et seq] where it denotes any real-valued function V with the same domain as f and enough smoothness to allow differentiation along solutions. For a given choice of V, a function F is sought such that

$$V(t,x) \le F(t,V(t,x))$$

for all (t, x) and thus an inequality (1.2) is satisfied by v(t) = V(t, x(t)). Depending on the qualitative property being investigated, various restrictions on V and F are required. This approach is then used to investigate questions such as global existence, boundedness, and stability. For example, for stability of an equilibrium, various sign requirements on V and F(t, v) near equilibrium are imposed. Lyapunov functions that are not necessarily sign definite may be used to establish instability of an equilibrium by a method of Chetaev [21] (or see Theorem 5.1 in [39]). Necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a nontrivial exponential dichotomy for linear systems are expressed in terms of Lyapunov functions which are specifically not sign definite, see [26, Chapter 7]. This approach may also be used to establish hyperbolic behavior near an equilibrium of a nonlinear system. Consistent with the usage of [104, page 77] and [100, page 274], the term will be used throughout the thesis as in the following definition.

**Definition 1.1.** A continuously differentiable function function  $V : [t_0, \infty) \times D \to \mathbb{R}$  is a Lyapunov function for (1.1) if  $\overset{\bullet}{V}(t, x) \leq 0$  for all  $(t, x) \in [t_0, \infty) \times D$ .

The main objective of the thesis is to investigate the construction of Lyapunov functions for the following class of coupled systems of differential equations

$$u'_{i} = f_{i}(t, u_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t, u_{i}, u_{j}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(1.5)

Here  $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ ,  $f_i : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ , and  $g_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ . The class of coupled system (1.5) is an abstraction of a wide variety of physical, natural, and artificial complex dynamical systems: from biological and artificial neural networks [3, 17, 23, 55], coupled systems of nonlinear oscillators on lattices [8, 22], to complex ecosystems [92, 107] and the transmission models of infectious diseases in heterogeneous populations [18, 112]. We look for Lyapunov functions in the form

$$V(t, u_1, \cdots, u_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(t, u_i),$$
(1.6)

with constants  $c_i \geq 0$  and functions  $V_i : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}$ . In practice, functions

 $V_i$  are commonly chosen as Lyapunov functions for the uncoupled system

$$u'_i = f_i(t, u_i), \qquad 1 \le i \le n.$$
 (1.7)

The uncoupled system (1.7) is often of low dimension whose Lyapunov functions  $V_i$  are relatively easy to construct. The goal of our investigation is to select coefficients  $c_i$  so that V becomes a Lyapunov function for the coupled system (1.5). Due to the complexity and large scale of system (1.5), this is a very challenging task.

In the thesis, utilizing results from graph theory, we are able to develop a uniform and systematic approach of selecting coefficients  $c_i$ . The determination of  $c_i$  in our approach is given explicitly in terms of the coupling structure of system (1.5). Our approach is sufficiently general that it is applicable to systems with arbitrary coupling structure.

We have chosen several well-known classes of mathematical models in Chapters 3-5 to demonstrate the applicability and effectiveness of our graphtheoretic approach. These examples are chosen from different areas of science and engineering and include coupled mechanical or electrical oscillators, spatial ecological models of interacting species, and models of infectious diseases in heterogeneous populations. These models represent a variety of differential equations: ordinary differential equations, differential equations with time delays, and stochastic differential equations. These examples also include several different types of coupling structure: physical coupling in mechanical and electrical engineering, spatial interaction through species dispersal in ecology, and nonlinear coupling through cross-infection in the spread and transmission of infectious diseases. Our approach applies to both coupling with instantaneous connections and those with time-delayed connections. Our approach also works for different types of Lyapunov functions.

For all of the examples in Chapters 3-5, our graph-theoretic approach allows us to significantly improve the best known results in the literature. In particular, our global-stability result for a multi-group epidemic model (Theorem 3.9) contains a complete resolution of a 30-year old open problem in mathematical epidemiology.

# Chapter 2. A Graph-Theoretic Approach to the Construction of Lyapunov Functions

In this chapter we develop a general and systematic approach to the construction of Lyapunov functions for coupled systems on networks. Concepts from graph theory related to our development are reviewed in Section 2.1. In Section 2.2 we apply Kirchhoff's Matrix-Tree Theorem to prove several combinatorial identities, which will be used in our development. The mathematical framework of coupled systems on networks along with several examples is given in Section 2.3. The graph-theoretic approach, the key result of my thesis, is systematically developed in Section 2.4. We apply the approach to establish several stability results in Section 2.5. Related discussion are given in Section 2.6.

## 2.1 Definitions and Notations from Graph Theory

A directed graph or digraph  $\mathcal{G} = (V, E)$  is a pair of two sets: a set  $V = \{1, 2, \ldots, n\}$  of vertices and a set E of arcs (i, j) leading from initial vertex i to terminal vertex j. A subgraph  $\mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathcal{G}$  is said to be spanning if  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$  have the same vertex set. A digraph and a spanning subgraph are depicted

in Figure 2.1. A digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  is weighted if each arc (j, i) is assigned a positive weight  $a_{ij}$ . In our convention,  $a_{ij} > 0$  if and only if there exists an arc from vertex j to vertex i in  $\mathcal{G}$ . The weight  $w(\mathcal{H})$  of a subgraph  $\mathcal{H}$  is the product of the weights on all its arcs.



Figure 2.1: (a) A digraph  $\mathcal{G}$ . (b) A spanning subgraph of  $\mathcal{G}$ 

A directed path  $\mathcal{P}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$  is a subgraph with distinct vertices  $\{i_1, i_2, \cdots, i_m\}$ such that its set of arcs is  $\{(i_k, i_{k+1}) : k = 1, 2, \ldots, m-1\}$ . If  $i_m = i_1$ , we call  $\mathcal{P}$  a directed cycle. A subgraph  $\mathcal{T}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$  is a rooted tree if it contains no directed cycles, and there is one vertex called the root that is not a terminal vertex of any arcs while each of the remaining vertices is a terminal vertex of exactly one arc. A subgraph  $\mathcal{Q}$  is unicyclic if it contains one directed cycle and every vertex of  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a terminal vertex of exactly one arc. A unicyclic graph has also been called a contra-functional digraph [44, page 201]. A rooted tree and a unicyclic graph are depicted in Figure 2.2. We refer the reader to [44, 120] for general theory on graphs.



Figure 2.2: (a) A rooted tree. (b) A unicyclic graph

### 2.2 Matrix-Tree Theorem and Combinatorial Identities

Given a weighted digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  with *n* vertices, define the weight matrix as

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & a_{12} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ a_{21} & a_{22} & \cdots & a_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & a_{n2} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{bmatrix},$$

where  $a_{ij}$  is defined as the weight of arc (j, i) if it exists and 0 otherwise. For our purpose, we denote a weighted digraph as  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ . A digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  is strongly connected if, for any pair of distinct vertices, there exists a directed path from each vertex to the other. A nonnegative matrix is a matrix in which all the elements are nonnegative. A nonnegative matrix A is reducible if, for some permutation matrix P,

$$PAP^T = \begin{bmatrix} A_1 & 0 \\ A_2 & A_3 \end{bmatrix},$$

and  $A_1, A_3$  are square matrices. Otherwise, A is *irreducible*. A weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is strongly connected if and only if the weight matrix A is irreducible [15]. The *Laplacian matrix* of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is defined as

$$L = \begin{bmatrix} \sum_{k \neq 1} a_{1k} & -a_{12} & \cdots & -a_{1n} \\ -a_{21} & \sum_{k \neq 2} a_{2k} & \cdots & -a_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -a_{n1} & -a_{n2} & \cdots & \sum_{k \neq n} a_{nk} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.1)

Let  $c_i$  denote the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element of *L*. The following result is standard in graph theory, and customarily called Kirchhoff's Matrix-Tree Theorem. We refer the reader to [64, 95] for its proof. **Proposition 2.1** (Kirchhoff's Matrix-Tree Theorem). Assume  $n \ge 2$ . Then

$$c_i = \sum_{\mathcal{T} \in \mathbb{T}_i} w(\mathcal{T}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(2.2)

where  $\mathbb{T}_i$  is the set of all spanning trees  $\mathcal{T}$  of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  that are rooted at vertex i, and  $w(\mathcal{T})$  is the weight of  $\mathcal{T}$ . In particular, if  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is strongly connected, then  $c_i > 0$  for all  $1 \leq i \leq n$ .

Using Proposition 2.1 we can prove the following combinatorial identity, which is the key step in the development of graph-theoretic approach in Section 2.4.

**Theorem 2.2.** Let  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  be a weighted digraph with  $n \geq 2$  vertices, and  $c_i$  the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element of the associated Laplacian matrix (2.1). Then the following identity holds for arbitrary functions  $F_{ij} : \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}$  and all  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}, 1 \leq i, j \leq n$ :

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}} w(\mathcal{Q}) \sum_{(s,r) \in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} F_{rs}(x_r, x_s).$$
(2.3)

Here  $\mathbb{Q}$  is the set of all spanning unicyclic graphs of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ ,  $w(\mathcal{Q})$  is the weight of  $\mathcal{Q}$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$  denotes the directed cycle of  $\mathcal{Q}$ , and  $E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})$  is the arc set of  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ .

*Proof.* For every spanning tree  $\mathcal{T}$  rooted at vertex i,

$$w(\mathcal{T}) a_{ij} = w(\mathcal{Q}),$$

where Q is the unicyclic graph obtained from T by adding an arc (j, i) from vertex j to the root vertex i, see Figure 2.3. As a consequence,

$$w(\mathcal{T}) a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = w(\mathcal{Q}) F_{ij}(x_i, x_j), \text{ and } (j, i) \in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}).$$

When we perform this operation in all possible ways to all rooted trees in  $\mathcal{G}$ , we obtain all unicyclic graphs in  $\mathcal{G}$ , and each unicyclic graph  $\mathcal{Q}$  is created as



Figure 2.3: A unicyclic graph is formed by adding a directed arc (j, i) to a tree rooted at i.

many times as the number of arcs in its cycle  $C_{Q}$  (see Theorem 16.5 in [44, page 201]). The identity (2.3) follows from (2.2) if we reorganize the double sum on the left hand side as a sum over all unicyclic graphs in  $\mathcal{G}$ .

**Corollary 2.3.** Let  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  and  $c_i$  be as in Theorem 2.2. Then the following identity holds for arbitrary functions  $G_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}$  and all  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}, 1 \leq i \leq n$ :

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i \, a_{ij} \, G_i(x_i) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i \, a_{ij} \, G_j(x_j).$$
(2.4)

*Proof.* Using Theorem 2.2, we know that both sides of (2.4) are equal to

$$\sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}} w(\mathcal{Q}) \sum_{k \in V(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} G_k(x_k)$$

where  $V(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})$  is the vertex set of  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ .

A weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is said to be *balanced* if for any directed cycle  $\mathcal{C}$  in  $\mathcal{G}$ , the reverse  $-\mathcal{C}$  is also in  $\mathcal{G}$ , and  $w(\mathcal{C}) = w(-\mathcal{C})$  (see [99]). Here,  $-\mathcal{C}$  denotes the reverse of  $\mathcal{C}$  and is constructed by reversing the direction of all arcs in  $\mathcal{C}$ . If the weight matrix A is symmetric, then  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced. However, the weight matrix of a balanced digraph is not necessarily symmetric. For a unicyclic graph  $\mathcal{Q}$  with cycle  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ , let  $\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}$  be the unicyclic graph obtained by replacing  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$  with  $-\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}}$ . Suppose that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced. Then  $w(\mathcal{Q}) = w(\tilde{\mathcal{Q}})$ .

In the right hand side of identity (2.3), we can further pair  $\mathcal{Q}$  with  $\mathcal{Q}$  and obtain

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}} w(\mathcal{Q}) \sum_{(s,r) \in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} [F_{rs}(x_r, x_s) + F_{sr}(x_s, x_r)], \quad (2.5)$$

for all  $(x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{m_1} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_2} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R}^{m_n}$ . We thus have the following result.

**Theorem 2.4.** Assume  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced and  $n \geq 2$ . Let  $c_i$  be as in Theorem 2.2. Then identity (2.5) holds for arbitrary functions  $F_{ij} : \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}, 1 \leq i, j \leq n$ .

Using Theorem 2.4 and the same proof as for Corollary 2.3, we obtain the following result.

**Corollary 2.5.** Assume  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced and  $n \geq 2$ . Let  $c_i$  be as in Theorem 2.2. Then the following identity holds for arbitrary functions  $F_{ij}$ :  $\mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}$  and all  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ ,  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ :

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i \, a_{ij} \, F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i \, a_{ij} \, F_{ji}(x_j, x_i).$$
(2.6)

### 2.3 Coupled Systems on Networks

Given a network represented by digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  with *n* vertices,  $n \geq 2$ , a coupled system can be built on  $\mathcal{G}$  by assigning each vertex its own internal dynamics and then coupling these vertex dynamics based on directed arcs in  $\mathcal{G}$ . Assume that each vertex dynamics is described by a system of differential equations

$$u'_i = f_i(t, u_i),$$
 (2.7)

where  $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$  and  $f_i : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ . Let  $g_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ represent the influence of  $u_j$  from vertex j on  $u_i$  from vertex i, and  $g_{ij} \equiv 0$ if there exists no arc from j to i in  $\mathcal{G}$ . See Figure 2.4. Then we obtain the following coupled system on digraph  $\mathcal{G}$ 

$$u'_{i} = f_{i}(t, u_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t, u_{i}, u_{j}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.8)

Many large-scale dynamical systems from science and engineering can be represented as coupled systems on networks in the form of (2.8). Several examples are illustrated below. More examples are considered in Chapters 3-5.



Figure 2.4: A coupled system on a network

**Example 1 (Coupled Oscillators).** A coupled system of nonlinear oscillators on  $\mathcal{G}$  can be built as follows: each vertex *i* is assigned a nonlinear oscillator described by

$$x_i'' + \alpha_i x_i' + f_i(x_i) = 0, \qquad (2.9)$$

where  $\alpha_i \geq 0$  is the damping coefficient,  $f_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is the nonlinear restoring force, and the influence from vertex j to vertex i is provided in the form  $a_{ij}(x'_i - x'_j)$  [29, 42]. Here weight constants  $a_{ij} \geq 0$ , and  $a_{ij} = 0$  if and only if no arc exists from j to i in  $\mathcal{G}$ . See Figure 2.5. We arrive at a coupled system



Figure 2.5: Coupled oscillators on a network

of second order differential equations on  $\mathcal{G}$ 

$$x_i'' + \alpha_i x_i' + f_i(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(x_i' - x_j') = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n_i$$

or in the form of first order systems

$$x_i' = y_i,$$
  

$$y_i' = -\alpha_i y_i - f_i(x_i) - \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(y_i - y_j).$$
(2.10)

We will study the global dynamics of (2.10) in Section 3.1.

**Example 2 (System Coupled via Dispersal).** Assume that the vertex dynamics at each vertex is described by an *m*-dimensional differential equation

$$u'_i = f_i(t, u_i), \qquad u_i \in \mathbb{R}^m, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.11)

Let  $K = \text{diag}\{k_1, k_2, \cdots, k_m\}$  be a diagonal matrix with  $k_i \ge 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le m$ . A class of coupled systems of differential equations (2.11) on  $\mathcal{G}$  can be given as

$$u'_{i} = f_{i}(t, u_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} K(u_{j} - u_{i}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.12)

The underlying network is described in Figure 2.6. Several mathematical models in the form of (2.12) are investigated in Chapters 3-5.

## 2.4 Construction of Lyapunov Functions for Coupled Systems

In this section we develop a systematic approach to the construction of Lyapunov function for coupled systems on networks. Our approach allows us to



Figure 2.6: System coupled via dispersal

resolve global-stability problems (Chapters 3-5) for many complex systems including coupled oscillators (2.10) and dispersal coupled systems in the form of (2.12).

Consider a coupled system on a digraph  $\mathcal{G}$ 

$$u'_i = f_i(t, u_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n g_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.13)

The vertex systems after removing all couplings are given as

$$u'_i = f_i(t, u_i), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (2.14)

Our objective is to investigate if a Lyapunov function V can be constructed for system (2.13). Such an investigation is significant for the stability and control of large-scale dynamical systems.

Let  $U_i \subset \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$  be an open set. For each continuously differentiable function  $V_i : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \to \mathbb{R}, 1 \leq i \leq n$ , the derivative  $V_i$  along the solutions of (2.13), as defined in (1.3), is given as follows

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i}(t, u_i) = \frac{\partial V_i(t, u_i)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V_i(t, u_i)}{\partial u_i} \left( f_i(t, u_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n g_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j) \right).$$
(2.15)

In practice,  $V_i$  is often chosen as a Lyapunov function for each vertex system (2.14). Let  $U = U_1 \times U_2 \times \cdots \times U_n \subset \mathbb{R}^m, m = m_1 + m_2 + \cdots + m_n$ , and  $u = (u_1, u_2, \cdots, u_n)$ . For a continuously differentiable function  $V : \mathbb{R} \times U \to \mathbb{R}$ , the derivative  $\overset{\bullet}{V}$  along the solutions of (2.13) is given as follows

$$\overset{\bullet}{V}(t,u) = \frac{\partial V(t,u)}{\partial t} + \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\partial V(t,u)}{\partial u_i} \left( f_i(t,u_i) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t,u_i,u_j) \right).$$
(2.16)

We are particularly interested in constructing Lyapunov functions V for coupled system (2.13) of the form

$$V(t,u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(t,u_i), \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $c_i \ge 0$  are constants. The following result gives a general and systematic approach for selecting suitable coefficients  $c_i$  such that V as defined in (2.17) is a Lyapunov function for (2.13).

**Theorem 2.6.** Suppose that the following assumptions are satisfied.

(1) There exist functions  $V_i : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \to \mathbb{R}, F_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \times U_j \to \mathbb{R}$ , and constants  $a_{ij} \ge 0$  such that, for every  $1 \le i \le n$ ,

•  

$$V_i(t, u_i) \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j), \quad \forall t > 0, \ u = (u_1, \dots, u_n) \in U.$$
 (2.18)

(2) For each directed cycle C of the weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A), A = (a_{ij}),$ 

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} F_{rs}(t, u_r, u_s) \le 0, \quad \forall t > 0, \ u = (u_1, \dots, u_n) \in U.$$
 (2.19)

#### (3) The weighed digraph $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ is strongly connected.

Then, the constants  $c_i$  given by Proposition 2.1 satisfy  $c_i > 0$  for all i and the function

$$V(t,u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(t,u_i), \qquad (2.20)$$

satisfies  $\overset{\bullet}{V}(t,u) \leq 0$  for all t > 0 and  $u \in U$ , i.e., V is a Lyapunov function for (2.13).

*Proof.* Using (2.15), (2.16), and assumption (1), we obtain

$$\overset{\bullet}{V}(t,u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \overset{\bullet}{V}_i(t,u_i) \leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(t,u_i,u_j).$$

Applying Theorem 2.2 to the weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , we obtain

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j) = \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}} w(\mathcal{Q}) \sum_{(s,r) \in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} F_{rs}(t, u_r, u_s).$$
(2.21)

Since  $w(\mathcal{Q}) > 0$  and

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} F_{rs}(t, u_r, u_s) \le 0.$$

by assumption (2), we arrive at  $\overset{\bullet}{V}(t, u) \leq 0$ , completing the proof of Theorem 2.6.

If the underlying network  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  has special properties, then Theorem 2.6 holds under a weaker assumption than (2). Suppose that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced, as defined in Section 2.2. Using Theorem 2.4, we can further organize the terms on the right hand side of (2.21) and obtain

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_{i} a_{ij} F_{ij}(t, u_{i}, u_{j}) = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\mathcal{Q} \in \mathbb{Q}} w(\mathcal{Q}) \sum_{(s,r) \in E(\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Q}})} [F_{rs}(t, u_{r}, u_{s}) + F_{sr}(t, u_{s}, u_{r})].$$
(2.22)

The same proof shows that the conclusion of Theorem 2.6 holds if the assumption (2) is replaced by the following.

(2') Along each directed cycle  $\mathcal{C}$ 

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} \left( F_{rs}(t, u_r, u_s) + F_{sr}(t, u_s, u_r) \right) \le 0, \quad \forall t > 0, \ u \in U.$$
 (2.23)

We thus have the following result.

**Theorem 2.7.** Suppose that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced. Then the conclusion of Theorem 2.6 holds if condition (2.19) is replaced by (2.23).

Conditions (2.19) of Theorem 2.6 and (2.23) of Theorem 2.7 can be readily verified if there exist functions  $G_i : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \to \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , such that

$$F_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j) \le G_i(t, u_i) - G_j(t, u_j), \quad \forall \ 1 \le i, j \le n, t > 0, u \in U.$$
(2.24)

Hence the following corollary holds.

**Corollary 2.8.** The conclusion of Theorem 2.6 and Theorem 2.7 holds if condition (2.19) and (2.23), respectively, are replaced by (2.24).

If  $V_i$  satisfies a more restrictive condition

• 
$$V_i(t, u_i) \le -b_i V_i(t, u_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(t, u_i, u_j), \quad \forall t > 0, \ u \in U, \ 1 \le i \le n,$$

$$(2.25)$$

for constants  $b_i \ge 0$ , then a stronger conclusion can be drawn for V. The following result can be proved the same way as Theorem 2.6 and Theorem 2.7.

**Theorem 2.9.** Suppose that the following assumptions hold.

- (1) There exist  $V_i : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $F_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \times U_i \times U_j \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $a_{ij} \ge 0$ , and  $b_i > 0$  such that (2.25) holds.
- (2) Either (2.19) or (2.24) holds, or (2.23) holds provided that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced.
- (3) The weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is strongly connected.

Then, constants  $c_i$  given by Proposition 2.1 satisfy  $c_i > 0$  for all i and the function V in (2.20) satisfies

$$\overset{\bullet}{V}(t,u) \leq -bV(t,u) \quad for \ all \ t > 0, \ u \in U,$$

where  $b = \min\{b_1, b_2, \cdots, b_n\} > 0$ .

### 2.5 An Application to Stability Problems

In this section we use the graph-theoretic approach developed in Section 2.4 to obtain stability results for coupled systems of nonautonomous differential equations, while in Chapters 3-5 we investigate stability problems for autonomous systems.

Let D be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . Consider a nonautonomous system

$$x' = f(t, x),$$
 (2.26)

where  $f : [0, \infty) \times D \to D$  is continuous. We assume that the solution  $x(t; t_0, x_0)$  of (1.1) through  $(t_0, x_0)$  with  $x_0 \in D$  exists for all  $t \geq t_0$  and is unique. We say that the origin  $x = 0 \in D$  is an equilibrium of (2.26) at  $t = t_0$ if f(t, 0) = 0 for all  $t \geq t_0$ . The origin x = 0 is uniformly stable if for any given  $\epsilon > 0$  there exists  $\delta = \delta(\epsilon) > 0$  such that  $|x_0| < \delta$  implies  $|x(t; t_0, x_0)| < \epsilon$  for all  $t \geq t_0 > 0$ . The origin is uniformly asymptotically stable if it is uniformly stable and there exists  $\eta > 0$  independent of  $t_0$  such that  $|x_0| < \eta$  implies  $x(t; t_0, x_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . The origin is globally uniformly asymptotically stable if it is uniformly asymptotically stable and for any  $x_0 \in D$  we have  $x(t; t_0, x_0) \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ .

Consider the coupled system (2.13) with  $U_i = \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n, that is

$$u'_{i} = f_{i}(t, u_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} g_{ij}(t, u_{i}, u_{j}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
 (2.27)

where  $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}, f_i : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ , and  $g_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j} \to \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ . Suppose that the origin is an equilibrium of (2.27). Using the graph-theoretic approach developed in Section 2.4, we have the following stability result.

**Theorem 2.10.** Suppose that there exist functions  $V_i : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to \mathbb{R}, F_{ij}$ :

 $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{m_j}$  and constants  $a_{ij} \ge 0, b_i > 0, 1 \le i, j \le n$  such that assumptions (1)-(3) in Theorem 2.9 are satisfied. In addition, assume that the following conditions hold for every function  $V_i$ .

- (1) (positive definite)  $V_i(t, u_i) = 0$  for all t > 0 if and only if  $u_i = 0$ ; and there exists function  $\Phi_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to [0, \infty)$  with  $\Phi_i(u_i) = 0$  iff  $u_i = 0$  such that  $\Phi_i(u_i) \leq V_i(t, u_i)$  for all t > 0 and  $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ .
- (2) (decrescent) There exists function  $\Psi_i : \mathbb{R}^{m_i} \to [0, \infty)$  with  $\Psi_i(u_i) = 0$  iff  $u_i = 0$  such that  $|V_i(t, u_i)| \le \Psi_i(u_i)$  for all t > 0 and  $u_i \in \mathbb{R}^{m_i}$ .
- (3) (radially unbounded)  $V_i(t, u_i) \to \infty$  uniformly on t as  $|u_i| \to \infty$ .

Then the origin is a globally uniformly asymptotically stable equilibrium for system (2.27).

*Proof.* Applying Theorem 2.9, we find that the function

$$V(t, u) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(t, u_i),$$

with  $c_i > 0$  given by Proposition 2.1, is a Lyapunov function for system (2.27), and

•  
$$V(t, u) \le -bV(t, u),$$
 for all  $(t, u) \in [0, \infty) \times U,$ 

where  $b = \min\{b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n\} > 0$ . Since V is a linear combination of functions  $V_i$  that satisfy conditions (1)-(3), V also satisfies conditions (1)-(3). Therefore, by Theorem 4.3 in [39] (also see [102, Theorem 6.2] or [122, Theorem 9.8]), we conclude that the origin is globally uniformly asymptotically stable.  $\Box$ 

**Example 3.** Consider the following coupled system of nonautonomous differential equations

$$x'_{i} = \alpha_{i}(t)x_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(x_{j} - x_{i}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(2.28)

where  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\alpha_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ , and the nonnegative matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$  is irreducible. Assume that  $\alpha_i(t) \leq -\beta_i < 0$  for all i and  $t \geq 0$ . Set  $V_i(t, x_i) = x_i^2$ . It can easily be verified that  $V_i$  satisfies conditions (1)-(3) in Theorem 2.10. We also have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i}(t, x_i) = 2\alpha_i(t)x_i^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(2x_ix_j - 2x_i^2) \le -2\beta_i x_i^2 + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij}(x_j^2 - x_i^2).$$

Let  $F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = V_j(x_j) - V_i(x_i) = x_j^2 - x_i^2$  and  $b_i = 2\beta_i > 0$ . Hence all assumptions of Theorem 2.9 and Theorem 2.10 can be verified. Therefore, by Theorem 2.10, we conclude that the origin is a globally uniformly asymptotically stable equilibrium.

### 2.6 Discussion

To demonstrate that mere existence of Lyapunov functions  $V_i$  for each vertex system is not sufficient for the existence of V, we consider the following example, which shows that two asymptotically stable linear systems can be linearly coupled as in (2.12) to form an unstable system.

#### Example 4. Let

$$B = \left(\begin{array}{cc} -2 & 3\\ -1 & 1 \end{array}\right),$$

 $u_i = (x_i, y_i) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ , and  $f_i(u_i) = Bu_i$ . The vertex systems (2.11) become

$$\begin{pmatrix} x'_i \\ y'_i \end{pmatrix} = B \begin{pmatrix} x_i \\ y_i \end{pmatrix}, \quad i = 1, 2.$$
(2.29)

Since the two eigenvalues of B are  $-\frac{1}{2} \pm \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}i$ , the zero solution of the vertex systems (2.29) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Moreover, there exists a  $2 \times 2$  matrix C such that  $V_i = u_i^T C u_i$  is a Lyapunov function for the vertex

system (2.29) [41, page 295]. Let

$$A = \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$$

denote the weight matrix associated with a digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $K = \text{diag}\{1, 0\}$ . The dispersal coupled system (2.12), interpreted as in Figure 2.7, becomes

$$\begin{pmatrix} x'_1 \\ y'_1 \end{pmatrix} = B \begin{pmatrix} x_1 \\ y_1 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} x_2 - x_1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} x'_2 \\ y'_2 \end{pmatrix} = B \begin{pmatrix} x_2 \\ y_2 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} x_1 - x_2 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix},$$
(2.30)

whose coefficient matrix

$$\left(\begin{array}{rrrrr} -3 & 3 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -3 & 3 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 & 1 \end{array}\right)$$

has a positive eigenvalue  $\frac{\sqrt{13}-3}{2}$ , and thus the zero solution of the coupled system (2.30) is unstable.

In the rest of the thesis, to demonstrate the applicability and effectiveness of the approach described in Section 2.4, we consider the global-stability problem for various coupled systems. For these coupled systems, the types of vertex systems are ranging from ordinary differential equations, delay differential equations, to stochastic differential equations; the couplings among vertices can be linear or nonlinear, or have delay. We show that Lyapunov functions for these coupled systems can be systematically constructed by our approach.

# Chapter 3. Applications to Ordinary Differential Equation Models

In this chapter we choose several well-known mathematical models to demonstrate the applicability and effectiveness of our graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2. These models include coupled oscillators (Section 3.1), spatial ecological models of single species (Section 3.2) and predator-prey (Section 3.4), and heterogeneous epidemic models (Sections 3.5-3.6). These examples have different types of networks, such as mechanical and electrical networks for coupled oscillators, dispersal networks for spatial ecological models, and interaction networks for multi-group epidemic models. Vertex Lyapunov functions for these models are also different, from energy-type functions for coupled oscillators to Volterra-type functions for ecological and epidemiological models. Our graph-theoretic approach allows a unified solution regarding the construction of global Lyapunov functions for all these different type of complex systems.

The graph-theoretic approach also allows us to significantly improve the best-known results in the literature. In particular, the global stability of the endemic equilibrium for multi-group epidemic models has been an open problem for more than thirty years. Our approach resolves this long-standing open problem for a large class of multi-group epidemic models (Theorem 3.9).

### 3.1 A Model for Coupled Oscillators

Many mechanical, electrical, chemical, and biological systems can be modelled as coupled oscillators. Their dynamical behaviors can be very complicated; bifurcation and chaos have been observed in various model systems (see [8] and references therein). It is also interesting to investigate when and how these coupled oscillators can eventually stop oscillations. In this section we apply the graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2 to investigate the global-stability problem for a class of coupled oscillators. Our approach allows us to construct a global Lyapunov function for coupled oscillators using the well-known energy function for each individual oscillator.

We consider the model of coupled oscillators as constructed in Section 2.3. Recall that, for a given weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  with *n* vertices,  $A = (a_{ij})$ ,  $n \geq 2$ , a coupled system of nonlinear oscillators on  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is

$$x'_{i} = y_{i},$$
  

$$y'_{i} = -\alpha_{i}y_{i} - f_{i}(x_{i}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}(y_{i} - y_{j}).$$
(3.1)

The vertex system at each vertex is described by a nonlinear oscillator as

$$x_i'' + \alpha_i x_i' + f_i(x_i) = 0. (3.2)$$

Here  $\alpha_i \geq 0$  is the damping coefficient,  $f_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is the nonlinear restoring force.

For each vertex system, we assume that there exists  $x_i^*$  such that  $f_i(x_i) = 0$ iff  $x_i = x_i^*$ . We also assume that the potential energy  $F_i(x_i) = \int_{x_i^*}^{x_i} f_i(s) ds$  has a global minimum at  $x_i = x_i^*$  and  $\lim_{x_i \to \infty} F_i(x_i) = \infty$  for all *i*. Then it is standard that, if  $\alpha_i > 0$ , the total energy

$$V_i(x_i, y_i) = \frac{y_i^2}{2} + F_i(x_i)$$
(3.3)

is a global Lyapunov function for the global asymptotic stability of  $x_i = x_i^*$  for vertex system (3.2).

It can be verified that  $E^* = (x_1^*, 0, x_2^*, 0, \dots, x_n^*, 0)$  is an equilibrium of coupled system (3.1). In the following, we apply the graph-theoretic approach to construct a global Lyapunov function for coupled system (3.1), and then establish the global stability of  $E^*$ .

**Theorem 3.1.** Assume  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is strongly connected. Suppose that  $\alpha_i \geq 0$  for all *i* and there exists *k* such that  $\alpha_k > 0$ . Then equilibrium  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

*Proof.* To apply the graph-theoretic approach, we want to verify that  $V_i(x_i, y_i)$ in (3.3) satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.6. Differentiating  $V_i$  along (3.1) gives

Let

$$F_{ij}(y_i, y_j) = \frac{1}{2}y_j^2 - \frac{1}{2}y_i^2.$$

We have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i} \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(y_i, y_j),$$

and along every directed cycle  $\mathcal{C}$  of the weighted digraph  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ ,

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} F_{rs}(y_r, y_s) = \sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} \left(\frac{1}{2}y_s^2 - \frac{1}{2}y_r^2\right) = 0.$$

Assumptions (1) and (2) of Theorem 2.6 are satisfied. Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Then, by Theorem 2.6,

$$V(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(x_i, y_i)$$

is a Lyapunov function for (3.1), in fact,

$$\stackrel{\bullet}{V}(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\n}}^n c_i \overset{\bullet}{V_i}(x_i, y_i) \\
 \leq \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i=1}}^n c_i \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(y_i, y_j) \\
 = 0$$

for all  $(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

To show  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable, we examine the largest invariant set where V = 0. Since  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is strongly connected,  $c_i > 0$  for all  $1 \leq i \leq n$ . Therefore, V = 0 implies that  $\alpha_i y_i^2 = 0$  and  $a_{ij}(y_i - y_j)^2 = 0$  for all  $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ . As a consequence,  $y_i = 0$  if  $\alpha_i > 0$ ; and  $y_i = y_j$  if  $a_{ij} > 0$ , or if there exists an arc from j to i in  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ . By our assumption, there exists ksuch that  $\alpha_k > 0$ , thus  $y_k = 0$ . Let  $l \neq k$  denote any vertex of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ . Then, by the strong connectivity of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , there exists a directed path  $\mathcal{P}$  from lto k. Applying the relation  $y_i = y_j$  to each arc (j, i) of  $\mathcal{P}$ , we obtain that  $y_l = y_k = 0$ . Hence, V = 0 implies  $y_i = 0$  for all i. From the second equation of (3.1), we have  $0 = y'_i = -f_i(x_i)$ , and thus  $x_i = x_i^*$  for all i. This implies that the largest invariant subset of

$$\{(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n} \mid \overset{\bullet}{V} = 0\}$$

is the singleton  $\{E^*\}$ . Note that V is radially unbounded, namely,

$$V(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) \to \infty$$
 as  $|(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n)| \to \infty$ 

Therefore, by the LaSalle Invariance Principle [75],  $E^*$  is globally asymptoti-

cally stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$ .

Theorem 3.1 shows that in a strongly connected network, the existence of damping in a single oscillator is sufficient to eventually wipe out all oscillations in coupled system (3.1).

### 3.2 A Single-Species Model in a Patchy Environment

Spatial heterogeneity exists in the natural world and can influence population dynamics [77]. Both continuous reaction-diffusion systems and discrete patchy models are used to study the effect of spatial heterogeneity in the literature (see [98] and references therein). While reaction-diffusion systems are suitable for random spatial dispersal, patchy models are often used to describe directed movement among patches [51, 76].

In this section we consider a general model that describes the dispersal of a single species among n patches  $(n \ge 2)$ 

$$x'_{i} = x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(x_{j} - \alpha_{ij}x_{i}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(3.4)

Here  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}_+$  represents population density of the species in patch  $i, f_i \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$  represents the intrinsic growth rate in patch i, the constant  $d_{ij} \ge 0$  is the dispersal rate from patch j to patch i, and the constant  $\alpha_{ij} \ge 0$  can be selected to represent different boundary conditions in the continuous diffusion case [1, 86]. We remark that growth functions of patches can be very different; that is, system (3.4) allows patch-specific population dynamics [2]. To model this specification using continuous space model, one needs to deal with partial differential equations with spatially varying coefficients, which are particularly challenging in stability analysis.

Stability problems for system (3.4) have been investigated by different au-

thors. For example, Hastings [48] studied the local stability of a positive equilibrium of (3.4). Sufficient conditions for uniqueness and global stability of the positive equilibrium were first derived in Beretta and Takeuchi [13] and further generalized in Lu and Takeuchi [86]. In the following, we interpret (3.4) as a coupled system on a network. Using our graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2, we prove a global stability result under weaker restrictions then ones in [13] and [86].

A digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  with *n* vertices can be constructed for system (3.4) as follows: each vertex represents a patch, a directed arc (j, i) is assigned if the dispersal rate  $d_{ij}$  from patch *j* to patch *i* is positive, and no such arc exists if  $d_{ij} = 0$ . The dynamics at each vertex are defined by the scalar ordinary differential equation  $x'_i = x_i f_i(x_i)$ . The coupling among vertices are provided by the dispersal among patches. See Figure 3.1. We remark that the dispersal network  $\mathcal{G}$  is strongly connected if and only if the dispersal matrix  $(d_{ij})$  is irreducible.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & & \\ & & \\ \hline \\ x'_i = x_i f_i(x_i) \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{d_{ji}(x_i - \alpha_{ji}x_j)} \hline \\ & & \\ \hline \\ & & \\ d_{ij}(x_j - \alpha_{ij}x_i) \end{array} \xrightarrow{x'_j = x_j f_j(x_j)} \end{array}$$

Figure 3.1: A coupled single-species system on a network

Let  $\Phi: (0,\infty) \to [0,\infty)$  be such that

$$\Phi(x) = x - 1 - \ln x, \quad \forall x > 0.$$
 (3.5)

It can be easily verified that  $\Phi(x) \ge 0$  for all x > 0 and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 1. Denote  $\mathbb{R}_+ = [0, \infty)$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+^n = \{(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid x_i \in \mathbb{R}_+, i = 1, 2, \dots, n\}$ . Now we are in a position to establish the global stability result for system (3.4). Biologically, our result implies that populations in all patches persist at the unique positive equilibrium level if it exists, irrespective of the initial conditions.

**Theorem 3.2.** Suppose that the following assumptions hold:

- (1) The dispersal matrix  $(d_{ij})$  of (3.4) is irreducible.
- (2)  $f'_i(x_i) \leq 0$ , for all  $x_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , and there exists k such that  $f'_k(u) \neq 0$  in any open interval of  $\mathbb{R}_+$ .

Then, whenever a positive equilibrium  $E^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*, \dots, x_n^*)$  with  $x_i^* > 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$  exists for system (3.4), it is unique and globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

*Proof.* Let  $E^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*, \dots, x_n^*), x_i^* > 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , denote a positive equilibrium of (3.4). Then  $x_i^*$  satisfies

$$f_i(x_i^*) = -\sum_{j=1}^n d_{ij} \left( \frac{x_j^*}{x_i^*} - \alpha_{ij} \right).$$
(3.6)

We show that  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ , and thus is unique.

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$V_i(x_i) = x_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\right) = x_i - x_i^* - x_i^* \ln \frac{x_i}{x_i^*}.$$

From the properties of function  $\Phi$  as defined in (3.5), we obtain that  $V_i(x_i) > 0$ for all  $x_i > 0$  and  $V_i(x_i) = 0$  if and only if  $x_i = x_i^*$ . Direct calculation and (3.6) yield

Let

$$a_{ij} = d_{ij}x_j^* \ge 0,$$
  
$$F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{x_j}{x_j^*} - \frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + 1 - \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*},$$
and

$$G_i(x_i) = -\Phi\left(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\right) = 1 - \frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + \ln\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}$$

Using the fact  $(x_i - x_i^*)(f_i(x_i) - f_i(x_i^*)) \leq 0$  for all  $x_i > 0$  and all i, we have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i} \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j).$$

On the other hand,

$$F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{x_j}{x_j^*} - \frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + 1 - \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*}$$
  
=  $G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) + 1 - \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*} + \ln \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*}$   
=  $G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) - \Phi\left(\frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*}\right)$   
 $\leq G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j).$ 

We have shown that  $V_i$ ,  $F_{ij}$ ,  $G_i$ , and  $a_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.8. Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Therefore,

$$V(x_1, \cdots, x_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(x_i)$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6 is a Lyapunov function for (3.4), namely,

$$\overset{\bullet}{V} \leq 0$$
 for all  $(x_1, \cdots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

Using the strong connectivity of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  and a similar argument as in Section 3.1, we can show that  $\overset{\bullet}{V} = 0$  if and only if  $x_i = x_i^*$  for all *i*. Note that V is radially unbounded and  $V(x_1, \dots, x_n) \to \infty$  as  $x_i \to 0^+$  for any *i*. By the classical Lyapunov stability theory,  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ . This completes the proof of Theorem 3.2.

The existence requirement for  $E^*$  can be satisfied through boundedness

and persistence analysis, which only involves dynamics on the boundary of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ . Theorem 3.2 contains an earlier result, as a special case, in Lu and Takeuchi [86], in which the global stability of  $E^*$  was proved by the theory of monotone dynamical system under the stricter conditions that  $f'_i(x_i) < 0$  in  $(0, +\infty)$  for all *i*. Before our Theorem 3.2, the result of Lu and Takeuchi [86] was the best-known global stability result for system (3.4).

## 3.3 A Volterra Food Web

Stability and complexity of ecosystems have been studied in the field of mathematical ecology and biology, see [91] and references therein. The interactions of many species within biological communities and/or inter communities result in different complex systems. Global-stability problems for these complex ecosystems can be very challenging due to complexity of ecosystems. In this section and Section 3.4 we demonstrate that our graph-theoretic approach is applicable to different types of complex ecosystems, from food webs (this section) to patchy predator-prey models (Section 3.4).

Food webs [24, 121] are complex ecosystems describing the predator-prey relationships between species. Global-stability problems on food webs can be used to describe the coexistence of species, and thus are interesting and important [31, 46, 99]. In this section, we apply our graph-theoretic approach to investigate the global stability of a Volterra food web

$$x'_{i} = x_{i} \Big( e_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{ij} x_{j} \Big), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (3.8)

Here  $x_i \in \mathbb{R}_+$  represents the population density of the *i*-th species,  $e_i \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p_{ii} \leq 0$ , and  $p_{ij}p_{ji} < 0$  if  $p_{ij} \neq 0, i \neq j$ . Biologically,  $p_{ij} > 0$  means that  $x_i$  is predator and  $x_j$  is prey. We describe (3.8) as a coupled system on a network. Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a digraph with *n* vertices, in which each vertex represents one species. An arc (j, i) exists if and only if  $p_{ij} \neq 0, i \neq j$ . The dynamics at each vertex are defined by the scalar ordinary differential equation

$$x_i' = e_i x_i + p_{ii} x_i^2$$

The coupling among vertices are provided by the interaction among species, in the bilinear form of  $p_{ij}x_ix_j$ ,  $i \neq j$ . System (3.8) thus can be regarded as a coupled system on  $\mathcal{G}$ . See Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2: A Volterra food web

Suppose that (3.8) admits a positive equilibrium  $E^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*, \cdots, x_n^*)$ , where  $x_i^* > 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , satisfy the equilibrium equations

$$e_i + \sum_{j=1}^n p_{ij} x_j^* = 0, \qquad \forall \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (3.9)

Let

$$V_i(x_i) = x_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\right) = x_i - x_i^* - x_i^* \ln \frac{x_i}{x_i^*}.$$

Differentiating  $V_i$  along with (3.9) gives

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_{i}} = e_{i}x_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{ij}x_{i}x_{j} - e_{i}x_{i}^{*} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{ij}x_{i}^{*}x_{j} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} p_{ij}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})(x_{j} - x_{j}^{*}) \\
= p_{ii}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}F_{ij}(x_{i}, x_{j}),$$

where  $a_{ij} = |p_{ij}|$  when  $i \neq j$ ,  $a_{ii} = 0$ , and  $F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \operatorname{sgn}(p_{ij})(x_i - x_i^*)(x_j - x_j^*)$ . Let  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  denote the weighted digraph with the weight matrix  $(a_{ij})$ . Suppose that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced. Thus condition (2.23) of Theorem 2.7 is satisfied since  $F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = -F_{ji}(x_j, x_i), i \neq j$ . Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Then, by Theorem 2.7,

$$V(x_1, x_2, \cdots, x_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(x_i)$$
(3.10)

is a Lyapunov function for (3.8) provided that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced. In particular, we have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i p_{ii} (x_i - x_i^*)^2 \le 0.$$
 (3.11)

Therefore, we have the following result that extends an earlier result on global Lyapunov functions for (3.8) in [99].

**Theorem 3.3.** Suppose that system (3.8) admits a positive equilibrium  $E^*$ . Assume that  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$  is balanced with weights  $a_{ij} = |p_{ij}|$  if  $p_{ij} \neq 0$  and 0 otherwise. Then V as given in (3.10) is a Lyapunov function for (3.8). Furthermore, if  $p_{ii} < 0$  for all i, then  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ .

## 3.4 A Patchy Predator-Prey Model

Patchy predator-prey models can be used to model complex ecosystems of predator-prey interactions in a heterogeneous environment. Assume that the heterogeneous environment can be divided into several homogeneous regions, called patches, prey and predator populations interact in each patch, and only prey population can dispersal among patches. Then we obtain the following predator-prey model in which prey disperse among n patches  $(n \ge 2)$ .

$$x'_{i} = x_{i}(r_{i} - b_{i}x_{i} - e_{i}y_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(x_{j} - \alpha_{ij}x_{i}),$$

$$y'_{i} = y_{i}(-\gamma_{i} - \mu_{i}y_{i} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(3.12)

Here,  $x_i, y_i$  denote the densities of preys and predators on the patch *i*, respectively. The parameters in the model are nonnegative constants, and  $e_i, \epsilon_i$  are positive. The dispersal constants  $d_{ij}, \alpha_{ij}$  are similarly defined as in Section 3.2. We refer the reader to [30, 71] for detailed interpretations of predator-prey models and parameters.

In this section we interpret (3.12) as a coupled system on a network. Utilizing a well-known Lyapunov function for single-patch predator-prey models [56] as  $V_i$  and using our graph-theoretic approach, we establish that a positive equilibrium of the *n*-patch model (3.12) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  as long as it exists. We remark that, for a special case of system (3.12) when patch number n = 2, Kuang and Takeuchi [71] proved the global stability of the positive equilibrium by constructing a Lyapunov function. Our graph-theoretic approach allows us to extend such a construction of Lyapunov functions for a two-patchy model to an arbitrarily *n*-patch model.

$$d_{ji}(x_i - \alpha_{ji}x_j)$$

Figure 3.3: A coupled predator-prey system on a network

A digraph  $\mathcal{G}$  with *n* vertices for system (3.12) can be constructed similarly as in Section 3.2. Each vertex represents a patch and  $(j, i) \in E(\mathcal{G})$  if and only if  $d_{ij} > 0$ . At each vertex of  $\mathcal{G}$ , the vertex dynamics is described by a predatorprey system. See Figure 3.3. The coupling among these predator-prey systems are provided by dispersal among prey populations. Now we are ready to establish the global stability of system (3.12).

**Theorem 3.4.** Suppose that the dispersal matrix  $(d_{ij})$  is irreducible. Assume that there exists k such that  $b_k > 0$  or  $\mu_k > 0$ . Then, whenever a positive equilibrium  $E^*$  exists, it is unique and globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ .

*Proof.* Let  $E^* = (x_1^*, y_1^*, \dots, x_n^*, y_n^*)$ , with  $x_i^*, y_i^* > 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$ , denote the positive equilibrium. Here  $x^*, y^*$  satisfy the equilibrium equations

$$r_{i} = b_{i}x_{i}^{*} + e_{i}y_{i}^{*} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}\left(\frac{x_{j}^{*}}{x_{i}^{*}} - \alpha_{ij}\right),$$
  

$$\gamma_{i} = -\mu_{i}y_{i}^{*} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i}^{*}.$$
(3.13)

Consider a vertex Lyapunov function in [56] for a single-patch predator-prey model,

$$V_{i}(x_{i}, y_{i}) = \epsilon_{i} x_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}}\right) + e_{i} y_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{y_{i}}{y_{i}^{*}}\right) = \epsilon_{i} \left(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*} - x_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}}\right) + e_{i} \left(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*} - y_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{y_{i}}{y_{i}^{*}}\right).$$

We show that  $V_i$  satisfies assumptions of Theorem 2.6. Following similar steps as in (3.7), and using (3.13), we can verify that

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathbf{\hat{V}}_{i} &= \epsilon_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})(r_{i} - b_{i}x_{i} - e_{i}y_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \epsilon_{i}d_{ij}\frac{x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}}{x_{i}}(x_{j} - \alpha_{ij}x_{i}) \\
&+ e_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})(-\gamma_{i} - \mu_{i}y_{i} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i}) \\
&= \epsilon_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})\left(b_{i}x_{i}^{*} + e_{i}y_{i}^{*} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}\left(\frac{x_{j}^{*}}{x_{i}^{*}} - \alpha_{ij}\right) - b_{i}x_{i} - e_{i}y_{i}\right) \\
&+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \epsilon_{i}d_{ij}\frac{x_{i} - x_{i}^{*}}{x_{i}}(x_{j} - \alpha_{ij}x_{i}) + e_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})(\mu_{i}y_{i}^{*} - \epsilon_{i}x_{i}^{*} - \mu_{i}y_{i} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i}) \\
&= -\epsilon_{i}b_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} - e_{i}\mu_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}\epsilon_{i}x_{j}^{*}\left(\frac{x_{j}}{x_{j}^{*}} - \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}} + 1 - \frac{x_{j}x_{i}^{*}}{x_{j}^{*}x_{i}}\right).
\end{aligned}$$

 $\operatorname{Set}$ 

$$a_{ij} = d_{ij}\epsilon_i x_j^*, \qquad F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{x_j}{x_j^*} - \frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + 1 - \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*}$$

$$G_i(x_i) = -\frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + \ln \frac{x_i}{x_i^*}.$$

Then, as in Section 3.2,  $V_i$ ,  $F_{ij}$ ,  $G_i$ , and  $a_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.8. Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Therefore, the function

$$V(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(x_i, y_i)$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6 is a Lyapunov function for (3.12), and

$$\overset{\bullet}{V} \leq 0$$
 for all  $(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ 

Using a similar argument as in Section 3.1, we can show that the largest invariant set on which  $\stackrel{\bullet}{V} = 0$  is the singleton  $\{E^*\}$ . Notice that V is radially unbounded and for all i we have

$$V(x_1, y_1, \cdots, x_n, y_n) \to \infty$$
 as  $x_i \to 0^+$  or  $y_i \to 0^+$ .

The LaSalle Invariance Principle [75] implies that  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in the positive cone of  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ . This also implies that  $E^*$  is unique, completing the proof of Theorem 3.4.

Theorem 3.4 generalizes a global-stability result in [71] from 2 patches to any number of patches. Biologically, our result indicates that arbitrary prey dispersal among patches never changes the global stability as long as the system persists.

and

# 3.5 An SIR Epidemic Model in a Patchy Environment

Heterogeneity exists in many aspects of disease transmission processes [20, 84]: heterogeneous spatial distribution of host populations, heterogeneous susceptibility among age groups, heterogeneous social behaviors among groups for sexually transmitted diseases, multi-hosts for many diseases such as West Nile virus and Avian flu. Heterogeneity produces complexity in disease transmission. Due to extremely large scales of the resulting models, rigorously establishing their global dynamics poses a great mathematical challenge. In this section (spatial heterogeneity) and Section 3.6 (host heterogeneity), our graphtheoretic approach allows us to completely determine the global dynamics of several classes of heterogeneous epidemiological models.

Discrete spatial epidemic models in patchy environments have been proposed in the literature to model the spread of infectious disease in spatially heterogeneous host populations [7, 116]. In the proposed models, a patch can be a city or a country; and directed movement can be migration among countries and regions or travel among cities. Arino and van den Driessche [6] formulated *n*-city epidemic models to investigate the effects of inter-city travel on the spatial spread of infectious diseases among cities. The basic reproduction number  $R_0$  was derived and numerical simulations were carried out to show that  $R_0$  determines whether the disease dies out  $(R_0 < 1)$  or becomes endemic  $(R_0 > 1)$ . Wang and Zhao [117] studied an *n*-patch SIS model with bilinear incidence. In the case that both susceptible and infectious individuals on each patch have the same dispersal rates, they proved that the diseasefree equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable if  $R_0 < 1$ . They also proved that the system is uniformly persistent and admits an endemic equilibrium if  $R_0 > 1$ . Under the same assumption that the dispersal rates of susceptible and infectious individuals are the same, Jin and Wang [60] showed that the *n*-patch SIS model can be reduced to a monotone system. Using the theory of

monotone dynamical systems, they proved the uniqueness and global stability of the endemic equilibrium when  $R_0 > 1$ . Salmani and van den Driessche [103] studied an SEIRS model with standard incidence in a patchy environment and proved that, if  $R_0 < 1$ , the disease-free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, regardless of travel rates. Uniqueness and global stability of endemic equilibria when  $R_0 > 1$  is unresolved for many patchy epidemic models.

In this section, we consider an SIR epidemic model in a patchy environment in which the couplings are provided by individual travel among patches

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji}S_{i},$$

$$I'_{i} = \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ji}I_{i},$$

$$R'_{i} = \gamma_{i}I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{R}R_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ij}R_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_{ji}R_{i}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(3.14)

Here  $S_i, I_i, R_i$  represent the susceptible, infectious, and removed populations in the *i*-th patch, respectively,  $\Lambda_i$  is the influx of individuals into the *i*-th patch,  $\beta_i$  is the transmission coefficient between susceptible and infectious individuals in the *i*-th patch,  $\mu_i^S$ ,  $\mu_i^I$ , and  $\mu_i^R$  represent death rates of S, I, Rpopulations in the *i*-th patch, respectively, and  $\gamma_i$  represents the recovery rate of infectious individuals in the *i*-th patch. The travel rates of susceptible, infectious, and removed individuals from the j-th patch to the i-th patch are given by  $a_{ij}, b_{ij}, c_{ij}$ , respectively. All parameter values are assumed to be nonnegative and  $\Lambda_i, \beta_i, \mu_i^S, \mu_i^I > 0$  for all *i*. The travel matrices  $A = (a_{ij})$ ,  $B = (b_{ij})$ , and  $C = (c_{ij})$  are not required to be symmetric, namely, the travel rate from the *i*-th patch to the *j*-th patch may not be the same as that from the *j*-th to the *i*-th. A typical assumption we impose on these matrices is that they are irreducible. In biological terms, this means individuals in each compartment can travel between any two patches directly or indirectly through other patches. For detailed discussions of epidemic model with patches, we refer the reader to the articles [7, 116] and the references therein. Model

(3.14) includes as special cases several earlier models in the literature. A twopatch SIS model [115] and a two-patch SIRS model [19] become special cases of model (3.14) if we assume that the disease has permanent immunity. An *n*-patch model similar to (3.14) was proposed in [87] without global-stability analysis. We remark that model (3.14) differs from those in [103] in that bilinear incidence is used in (3.14) while standard incidences are assumed in [103].

Since the variable  $R_i$  does not appear in the first two equations of (3.14), we can first study the reduced system

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji}S_{i},$$
  

$$I'_{i} = \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ji}I_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(3.15)

with initial conditions  $S_i(0) \ge 0$  and  $I_i(0) \ge 0$ . The behavior of  $R_i$  can then be determined from the last equation of (3.14). Our results will be stated for system (3.15) and can be translated straightforwardly to system (3.14).

$$a_{ji}S_{i} - a_{ij}S_{j}$$

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i}$$

$$I'_{i} = \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}$$

$$a_{ij}S_{j} - a_{ji}S_{i} \qquad b_{ij}I_{j} - b_{ji}I_{i}$$

$$S'_{j} = \Lambda_{j} - \beta_{j}S_{j}I_{j} - \mu_{j}^{S}S_{j}$$

$$I'_{j} = \beta_{j}S_{j}I_{j} - (\mu_{j}^{I} + \gamma_{j})I_{j}$$

Figure 3.4: A coupled SIR model on a network

System (3.15) can be regarded as a coupled system on a digraph  $\mathcal{G}$ . See Figure 3.4. For  $\mathcal{G}$ , each vertex represents a patch and  $(j,i) \in E(\mathcal{G})$  if either  $a_{ij} > 0$  or  $b_{ij} > 0$ . At each vertex, the vertex dynamics is described by a standard epidemic model. The coupling among patches are provided by travel of individuals.

To find the disease-free equilibrium of (3.15), we consider the following linear system

$$\Lambda_i - \mu_i^S S_i + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} S_j - \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ji} S_i = 0, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(3.16)

or in the form of matrix system

$$DS = \Lambda,$$

where

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1^S + \sum_{j \neq 1} a_{j1} & -a_{12} & \cdots & -a_{1n} \\ -a_{21} & \mu_2^S + \sum_{j \neq 2} a_{j2} & \cdots & -a_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -a_{n1} & -a_{n2} & \cdots & \mu_n^S + \sum_{j \neq n} a_{jn} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.17)$$

 $S = (S_1, S_2, \dots, S_n)^T$ , and  $\Lambda = (\Lambda_1, \Lambda_2, \dots, \Lambda_n)^T$ . Since all off-diagonal entries of D are nonpositive and the sum of the entries in each column of D is positive, D is a non-singular M-matrix and  $D^{-1} \ge 0$  [15, p.137]. A square matrix is said to be an M-matrix if all off-diagonal entries are nonpositive and all eigenvalues have positive real parts. Hence, the linear system (3.16) has a unique positive solution  $S^0 = (S_1^0, S_2^0, \dots, S_n^0)^T = D^{-1}\Lambda$ , with  $S_i^0 > 0$  for all i. As a consequence, system (3.15) has a unique disease-free equilibrium  $P_0 = (S_1^0, 0, S_2^0, 0, \dots, S_n^0, 0)$ . We thus have the following result.

**Proposition 3.5.** System (3.15) always has a unique disease-free equilibrium  $P_0$ .

Let

$$\bar{\Lambda} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \Lambda_i,$$
$$\mu^* = \min\{\mu^S_i, \ \mu^I_i + \gamma_i \mid i = 1, 2, \dots, n\}$$

and

$$N = \sum_{i=1}^{n} (S_i + I_i).$$

Adding all equations of (3.15) gives  $N' \leq \overline{\Lambda} - \mu^* N$ , which implies that  $\limsup_{t\to\infty} N \leq \frac{\overline{\Lambda}}{\mu^*}$ . Since all off-diagonal entries of D are nonpositive, it follows from the first equation of (3.15) that

$$S'_{i} \leq \Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} S_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji} S_{i} = (DS^{0} - DS)_{i} \leq 0,$$

when  $S_i = S_i^0$  and  $S_j \leq S_j^0$  for  $j \neq i$ . Thus a feasible region of (3.15) can be chosen as

$$\Gamma = \Big\{ (S_1, I_1, \cdots, S_n, I_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+ \mid N = \sum_{i=1}^n (S_i + I_i) \le \frac{\bar{\Lambda}}{\mu^*}, \ S_i \le S_i^0, \ 1 \le i \le n \Big\}.$$

It can be verified that  $\Gamma$  is positively invariant with respect to (3.15). Let  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$  denote the interior of  $\Gamma$ , and  $\partial\Gamma$  the boundary of  $\Gamma$ .

An endemic equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, S_2^*, I_2^*, \dots, S_n^*, I_n^*)$  of (3.15) belongs to  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ , namely,  $S_i^* > 0, I_i^* > 0$  for all  $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ . System (3.15) is said to be uniformly persistent [16, 114] in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$  if there exists constant c > 0 such that

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} S_i(t) > c \quad \text{and} \quad \liminf_{t \to \infty} I_i(t) > c, \ i = 1, \dots, n$$

provided  $(S_1(0), I_1(0), \dots, S_n(0), I_n(0)) \in \overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

Define

$$F = \begin{pmatrix} \beta_1 S_1^0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \beta_2 S_2^0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \beta_n S_n^0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.18)

and

$$V = \begin{pmatrix} \mu_1^I + \gamma_1 + \sum_{j \neq i} b_{j1} & -b_{12} & \cdots & -b_{1n} \\ -b_{21} & \mu_2^I + \gamma_2 + \sum_{j \neq 2} b_{j2} & \cdots & -b_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -b_{n1} & -b_{n2} & \cdots & \mu_n^I + \gamma_n + \sum_{j \neq n} b_{jn} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.19)

Using the method of van den Driessche and Watmough [113], the basic reproduction number can be calculated as

$$R_0 = \rho(FV^{-1}), \tag{3.20}$$

where  $\rho$  represents the spectral radius and  $FV^{-1}$  is the so called next generation matrix. The following result for system (3.15) can be proved the same way as in [19, 103].

**Proposition 3.6.** Suppose that  $B = (b_{ij})$  is either irreducible or equal to 0.

- (1) If  $R_0 \leq 1$ , then the disease-free equilibrium  $P_0$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Gamma$ .
- (2) If  $R_0 > 1$ , then  $P_0$  is unstable.
- (3) If  $R_0 > 1$  and  $B = (b_{ij})$  is irreducible, then system (3.15) is uniformly persistent and there exists an endemic equilibrium  $P^*$  in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

We remark that when the travel matrix  $B = (b_{ij})$  is reducible, system (3.15) can have multiple boundary equilibria and the dynamics of (3.15) can be complicated. In fact, when B = 0, system (3.15) can have an asymptotically stable boundary equilibrium when  $R_0 > 1$  and thus is not persistent [19, 115]. It is also possible that, if B = 0, no endemic equilibrium exists when  $R_0 > 1$ [19]. We refer the reader to [5, 6, 19, 115] for discussions on this issue.

The uniqueness and global stability of the endemic equilibrium, if it exists, are established in the following result.

**Theorem 3.7.** Assume that  $R_0 > 1$  and an endemic equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, I_n^*)$  exists. Suppose that one of the following assumptions is satisfied.

- (1) A = 0 and B is irreducible;
- (2) B = 0 and A is irreducible;
- (3) A and B are irreducible, and there exists  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $a_{ij}S_j^* = \lambda b_{ij}I_j^*$ for all  $1 \le i, j \le n$ .
- Then  $P^*$  is unique and globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

*Proof.* We prove the result when assumption (3) is satisfied. The other two cases can be proved similarly. Under assumption (3) we show that  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ . In particular, this implies that  $P^*$  is necessarily unique. Set

$$V_i(S_i, I_i) = S_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{S_i}{S_i^*}\right) + I_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{I_i}{I_i^*}\right) = S_i - S_i^* - S_i^* \ln \frac{S_i}{S_i^*} + I_i - I_i^* - I_i^* \ln \frac{I_i}{I_i^*},$$

which is a Lyapunov function for a one-patch SIR model [67, 69]. From the equilibrium equations of (3.15), we obtain

$$\mu_i^S S_i^* = \Lambda_i - \beta_i S_i^* I_i^* + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} S_j^* - \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ji} S_i^*, \qquad (3.21)$$

and

$$(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)I_i^* = \beta_i S_i^* I_i^* + \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ij} I_j^* - \sum_{j=1}^n b_{ji} I_i^*.$$
(3.22)

Recall that  $\Phi(x) = x - 1 - \ln x \ge 0$  for all x > 0 and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 1. Differentiating  $V_i$  along the solution of system (3.15), and using (3.21), (3.22), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{\dot{V}}_{i} &= \Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji}S_{i} - \Lambda_{i}\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} + \beta_{i}S_{i}^{*}I_{i} + \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i}^{*} \\ &- \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j}\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ji}S_{i}^{*} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ji}I_{i} \\ &- \beta_{i}S_{i}I_{i}^{*} + (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}^{*} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}\frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ji}I_{i}^{*} \\ &= \Lambda_{i}\left(2 - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} - \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j}^{*}\left(1 - \frac{S_{i}^{*}S_{j}}{S_{i}S_{j}^{*}} + \frac{S_{j}}{S_{j}^{*}} - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}}\right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}^{*}\left(1 - \frac{I_{i}^{*}I_{j}}{I_{i}I_{j}^{*}} + \frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}}\right) \\ &= -\Lambda_{i}\Phi\left(\frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}}\right) - \Lambda_{i}\Phi\left(\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}}\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j}^{*}\Phi\left(\frac{S_{i}^{*}S_{j}}{S_{i}S_{j}^{*}}\right) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}^{*}\Phi\left(\frac{I_{i}^{*}I_{j}}{I_{i}I_{j}^{*}}\right) \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j}^{*}\left(\frac{S_{j}}{S_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{S_{j}^{*}}{S_{j}} - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} - \ln\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}^{*}\left(\frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}} - \ln\frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij}S_{j}^{*}\left(\frac{S_{j}}{S_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{S_{j}^{*}}{S_{j}} - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} - \ln\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}^{*}\left(\frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}} - \ln\frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n} b_{ij}I_{j}^{*}\left[\left(\lambda\frac{S_{j}}{S_{j}^{*}} + \lambda\ln\frac{S_{j}^{*}}{S_{j}} + \frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}^{*}}\right) - \left(\lambda\frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} + \lambda\ln\frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} + \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}} + \ln\frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

$$(3.23)$$

Let  $\omega_{ij} = b_{ij}I_j^*$  and

$$G_i(S_i, I_i) = -\left(\lambda \frac{S_i}{S_i^*} + \lambda \ln \frac{S_i^*}{S_i} + \frac{I_i}{I_i^*} + \ln \frac{I_i^*}{I_i}\right)$$

Then we have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i} \leq \sum_{j=1}^n \omega_{ij} [G_i(S_i, I_i) - G_j(S_j, I_j)],$$

namely,  $V_i, G_i$  and  $\omega_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.8. Hence,

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(S_i, I_i)$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6, is a Lyapunov function for system (3.15). Since B is irreducible, we know that  $c_i > 0$  for all i (see Proposition 2.1), and thus  $\overset{\bullet}{V} = 0$  implies that  $S_i = S_i^*$  for all i. From the first equation of (3.15), we obtain

$$0 = (S_i^*)' = \Lambda_i - \beta_i S_i^* I_i - \mu_i^S S_i^* + \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} S_j^* - \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ji} S_i^*, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$

which implies that  $I_i = I_i^*$  for all *i*. We have verified that the largest invariant set on which  $\stackrel{\bullet}{V} = 0$  is the singleton  $\{P^*\}$ . Note that  $\stackrel{\circ}{\Gamma}$  is positively invariant and system (3.15) is uniformly persistent. Therefore, by the LaSalle Invariance Principle [75],  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\stackrel{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

Theorem 3.7 can be readily applied to the *n*-patch epidemic model in [87] and yield global-stability analysis. When the disease has permanent immunity, the global stability of the endemic equilibrium for two-patch epidemic models in [19, 115] is resolved as a special case of Theorem 3.7.

## 3.6 A Multi-Group SEIR Epidemic Model

Multi-group epidemic models have been proposed in the literature to describe the transmission dynamics of infectious diseases in heterogeneous host populations. Heterogeneity in host population can result from many factors. Individual hosts can be divided into groups according to different contact patterns such as those among children and adults for Measles and Mumps, or to distinct number of sexual partners for sexually transmitted diseases and HIV/AIDS. Groups can be geographical such as communities, cities, and countries, or epidemiological, to incorporate differential infectivity or co-infection of multiple strains of the disease agent. Multi-group models can also be used to investigate infectious diseases with multiple hosts such as West-Nile virus and vector borne diseases such as Malaria.

In this section, we consider a multi-group SEIR epidemic model in which

inter-group cross infections are described by nonlinear functions. The model

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}),$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i},$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i} E_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i}) I_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n,$$
(3.24)

describes the spread of an infectious disease in a heterogeneous population, which is partitioned into n homogeneous groups. Each group i is further compartmentalized into  $S_i$ ,  $E_i$ , and  $I_i$ , which denote the subpopulations that are susceptible to the disease, infected but non-infectious, and infectious, respectively. The nonlinear coupling term  $\beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$  represents the cross infection from group j to group i. The parameter  $\epsilon_i$  represents the rate of becoming infectious after latent period in the *i*-th group. All other parameters in (3.24) are similarly defined as in Section 3.5. For detailed discussions of the multi-group model and interpretations of parameters, we refer the reader to [37, 112].

Assume that  $\epsilon_i > 0$  and  $\mu_i^* > 0$ , where  $\mu_i^* = \min\{\mu_i^S, \mu_i^E, \mu_i^I + \gamma_i\}$ . Based on biological considerations, we assume that  $f_{ij}(0, I_j) = 0, f_{ij}(S_i, 0) = 0$ , and  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) > 0$  for  $S_i > 0, I_j > 0$ . We also assume that  $f_{ij}$  is sufficiently smooth. For each *i*, adding the three equations in (3.24) gives

$$(S_i + E_i + I_i)' \le \Lambda_i - \mu_i^* (S_i + E_i + I_i).$$

Hence

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} (S_i + E_i + I_i) \le \Lambda_i / \mu_i^*.$$

Similarly, from the  $S_i$  equation we obtain

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} S_i \le \Lambda_i / \mu_i^S$$

Therefore, all  $\omega$ -limit sets of system (3.24) are contained in the following

bounded region in the nonnegative cone of  $\mathbb{R}^{3n}$ ,

$$\Gamma = \left\{ (S_1, E_1, I_1, \cdots, S_n, E_n, I_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n}_+ \mid S_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}, \ S_i + E_i + I_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^*}, \ 1 \le i \le n \right\}.$$
(3.25)

It can be verified that region  $\Gamma$  is positively invariant. System (3.24) always has the disease-free equilibrium  $P_0 = (S_1^0, 0, 0, \dots, S_n^0, 0, 0)$ , on the boundary of  $\Gamma$ , where  $S_i^0 = \Lambda_i / \mu_i^S$ . An equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ in the interior  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$  of  $\Gamma$  is called an *endemic equilibrium*, where  $S_i^*, E_i^*, I_i^* > 0$ satisfy the equilibrium equations

$$\Lambda_i = \mu_i^S S_i^* + \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*), \qquad (3.26)$$

$$(\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i) E_i^* = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*), \qquad (3.27)$$

$$\epsilon_i E_i^* = (\mu_i^I + \gamma_i) I_i^*. \tag{3.28}$$

One of the earliest results on multi-group models is by Lajmanovich and Yorke [73] on a class of *n*-group SIS models for gonorrhea. The global stability of the unique endemic equilibrium is proved using a quadratic global Lyapunov function. Global stability results also exist for other types of multi-group models; see e.g., [10, 49, 50, 83, 111]. Results in the opposite direction also exist in the literature. For a class of *n*-group SIR models with proportionate incidence, uniqueness of endemic equilibria may not hold when  $R_0 > 1$  [58, 112]. Due to the large scale and complexity of multi-group models, the global stability of the endemic equilibrium of (3.24) has been a 30-year open problem in epidemiology until Guo, Li, and Shuai in [36, 37] applied the graph-theoretic approach to construct a global Lyapunov function for (3.24) with bilinear incidence  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = I_j S_i$ . For general nonlinear incidence, the global stability of the endemic equilibrium remains unsolved.

Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a digraph with *n* vertices, in which each vertex represents a group. An arc (j, i) exists if and only if  $\beta_{ij} > 0$ , namely, if the disease can be

transmitted from group j to group i. System (3.24) can thus be regarded as a coupled system on  $\mathcal{G}$ . See Figure 3.5. We note that  $\mathcal{G}$  is strongly connected if and only if transmission matrix  $(\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible.

$$-\beta_{ji}f_{ji}(S_{j}, I_{i})$$

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \beta_{ii}f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i})$$

$$E'_{i} = \beta_{ii}f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}) - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i}E_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}$$

$$-\beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) \qquad \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})$$

$$\beta_{ji}f_{ji}(S_{j}, I_{i})$$

$$\beta_{ji}f_{ji}(S_{j}, I_{i})$$

$$\beta_{ji}f_{ji}(S_{j}, I_{i})$$

$$\beta_{ji}f_{ji}(S_{j}, I_{i})$$

Figure 3.5: A multi-group SEIR model on a network

In the rest of this section we consider the following basic assumptions on functions  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ :  $(H_1) \ 0 < \lim_{I_j \to 0^+} \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)}{I_j} =: C_{ij}(S_i) \le +\infty$  for all  $0 < S_i \le S_i^0$ ;  $(H_2) \ f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) \le C_{ij}(S_i)I_j$  for sufficiently small  $I_j$ ;  $(H_3) \ f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) \le C_{ij}(S_i)I_j$  for all  $I_j > 0$ ;  $(H_4) \ C_{ij}(S_i) < C_{ij}(S_i^0)$  for all  $0 < S_i < S_i^0$ . Classes of  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$  satisfying some assumptions of  $(H_1)$ - $(H_4)$  include many

common incidence functions such as the bilinear function  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = I_j S_i$ , the nonlinear function  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = I_j^{p_j} S_i^{q_i}$ , and the saturated incidence  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = \frac{I_j^{p_j}}{I_j + A_j} \frac{S_i^{q_i}}{S_i + B_i}$ .

Assume that  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$  satisfies  $(H_1)$ , and let

$$R_0 = \rho(M_0) \tag{3.29}$$

denote the spectral radius of the matrix

$$M_0 = M(S_1^0, S_2^0, \dots, S_n^0) = \left(\frac{\beta_{ij} \epsilon_i C_{ij}(S_i^0)}{(\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i)(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)}\right)_{1 \le i,j \le n}.$$

If  $C_{ij}(S_i^0) = +\infty$  for some *i* and *j*, we set  $R_0 = +\infty$ . The parameter  $R_0$  is referred to as the basic reproduction number. Its biological significance is that if  $R_0 < 1$  the disease dies out while if  $R_0 > 1$  the disease becomes endemic [27, 113]. The following results for system (3.24) can be proved the same way as in [10, 36, 49, 50, 83, 111, 112].

**Proposition 3.8.** Assume that  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible and  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$  satisfies  $(H_1)$  for all i, j.

- (1) If R<sub>0</sub> ≤ 1 and assumptions (H<sub>2</sub>) and (H<sub>4</sub>) hold, then for system (3.24),
   P<sub>0</sub> is locally asymptotically stable.
- (2) If  $R_0 \leq 1$  and assumptions  $(H_3)$  and  $(H_4)$  hold, then  $P_0$  is the unique equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Gamma$ .
- (3) If R<sub>0</sub> > 1, then P<sub>0</sub> is unstable and system (3.24) is uniformly persistent.
   Furthermore, there exists an endemic equilibrium P\* for system (3.24).

When  $R_0 > 1$ , an endemic equilibrium  $P^*$  exists by Proposition 3.8. A longstanding open question in mathematical epidemiology is whether a multi-group epidemic model such as (3.24) had a unique endemic equilibrium  $P^*$  when  $R_0 > 1$ , and whether  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable when it is unique [112]. We prove the following theorem, which answers this open problems for system (3.24).

**Theorem 3.9.** Suppose that  $R_0 > 1$  and thus an endemic equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$  exists. Assume that  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible and all  $f_{ij}$  satisfy  $(H_1)$ . If  $f_{ij}$  satisfy, for every  $1 \le i, j \le n$ , the following conditions

$$(S_i - S_i^*)(f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) - f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)) > 0, \qquad \forall \ S_i \neq S_i^*, \tag{3.30}$$

$$\begin{pmatrix}
f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) - f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) \\
\left( \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_j} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^*} \right) \leq 0, \quad \forall S_i, I_j > 0,$$
(3.31)

then  $P^*$  is unique and globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

Proof. The case n = 1 is proved in [66]. We only consider  $n \ge 2$ . Let  $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, \cdots, S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ , where all  $S_i^*, E_i^*, I_i^* > 0$  for all  $1 \le i \le n$ , denote an endemic equilibrium which exists from Proposition 3.8-(3). We prove that  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ . In particular, this implies that the endemic equilibrium is unique. Let

$$V_i(S_i, E_i, I_i) = \int_{S_i^*}^{S_i} \frac{f_{ii}(\xi, I_i^*) - f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(\xi, I_i^*)} d\xi + E_i^* \Phi\Big(\frac{E_i}{E_i^*}\Big) + \frac{\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i}{\epsilon_i} I_i^* \Phi\Big(\frac{I_i}{I_i^*}\Big),$$

be the Lyapunov function for a single-group model as considered in [66]. We verify that  $V_i$  satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 2.6. Using the equilibrium equations (3.26)-(3.28), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathbf{\hat{V}}_{i} &= \left(1 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})}\right) \left(\Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})\right) + \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})\right) \\
&- (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}\right) \left(1 - \frac{E_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}}\right) + \frac{\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}}{\epsilon_{i}} \left(1 - \frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right) \left(\epsilon_{i}E_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})}\right) \left(\mu_{i}^{S}S_{i}^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})\right) \\
&+ \left(1 - \frac{E_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}}\right) \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) \frac{E_{i}}{E_{i}^{*}}\right) \\
&+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}\frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*})}{\epsilon_{i}E_{i}^{*}} \left(1 - \frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right) \left(\epsilon_{i}E_{i} - \frac{\epsilon_{i}E_{i}^{*}I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}}\right) \\
&= -\frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} \left(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*}\right) \left(f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*}) - f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) \cdot \left(3 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})E_{i}^{*}}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*})E_{i}} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}}} \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})E_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})E_{i}}{I_{i}}}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*})}{I_{i}}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{I_{i}}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})}{I_{i}}\right) \\
&= \left(1 - \frac{\mu_{i}^{S}}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}$$

Let

$$a_{ij} = \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*),$$

$$G_i(I_i) = -\Phi\left(\frac{I_i}{I_i^*}\right) = 1 - \frac{I_i}{I_i^*} + \ln\frac{I_i}{I_i^*},$$

and

$$F_{ij}(S_i, E_i, I_i, I_j) = 3 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} + \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)E_i^*}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)E_i} - \frac{I_i}{I_i^*} - \frac{E_iI_i^*}{E_i^*I_i^*}.$$

Then, using condition (3.30) and above notations, we have

$$\bullet_{V_i} \leq \sum_{i,j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(S_i, E_i, I_i, I_j).$$

Recall that  $\Phi(x) = 1 - x + \ln x \le 0$  for x > 0 and equality holds only at x = 1. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} F_{ij} &= G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) + \Phi\Big(\frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}\Big) + \Phi\Big(\frac{I_j f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^* f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}\Big) \\ &+ \Phi\Big(\frac{E_i I_i^*}{E_i^* I_i}\Big) + \Phi\Big(\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) E_i^*}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) E_i}\Big) + \Big(\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - 1\Big) \\ &+ \Big(1 - \frac{I_j f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^* f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}\Big) \\ &\leq G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) + \Big(\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - 1\Big) \\ &+ \Big(1 - \frac{I_j f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^* f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}\Big), \end{aligned}$$

Under condition (3.31), we can show that  $V_i, F_{ij}, G_i, a_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.8. Therefore, the function

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(S_i, E_i, I_i)$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6 is a Lyapunov function for (3.24), namely,

$$\overset{\bullet}{V} \leq 0$$
 for all  $(S_1, E_1, I_1, \cdots, S_n, E_n, I_n) \in \overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ .

It can be verified similarly as in Section 3.1 that the largest invariant set where  $\overset{\bullet}{V} = 0$  is the singleton  $\{P^*\}$ . Since  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$  is positively invariant and system (3.24)

is uniformly persistent, by the LaSalle Invariance Principle [75],  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$ . This completes the proof of Theorem 3.9.

#### Remarks

- 1. Condition (3.30) holds if  $f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)$  is strictly monotonically increasing with respect to  $S_i$ .
- 2. In the special case  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = h_i(S_i)g_j(I_j)$ , condition (3.31) becomes

$$(g_j(I_j) - g_j(I_j^*)) \left(\frac{g_j(I_j)}{I_j} - \frac{g_j(I_j^*)}{I_j^*}\right) \le 0.$$
(3.33)

If  $g_j(I_j)$  is  $C^1$  for  $I_j > 0$ , then a sufficient condition for (3.33) is

$$0 \le g'_j(I_j) \le \frac{g_j(I_j)}{I_j}, \quad \forall \ I_j > 0.$$
 (3.34)

Furthermore, if  $g_j(I_j)$  is monotonically increasing and concave down, then (3.34) holds, and so does (3.33).

- 3. In the special case  $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = S_i I_j$ , system (3.24) becomes the standard multi-group SEIR model studied in [37]. Theorem 3.9 generalizes Theorem 1.1 in [37], which contains a complete resolution of a wellknown open problem on the global-stability of the endemic equilibrium for multi-group epidemic models [112].
- 4. When n = 1, Theorem 3.9 contains earlier results on single-group SEIR models, see [65, 66, 67, 68, 78, 82] and references therein.

# Chapter 4. Applications to Delay Differential Equation Models

In this chapter we demonstrate that the graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2 can be also applied to complex systems with time delays. An ecological model on a time-delayed spatial dispersal network is studied in Section 4.1. The delay occurs in connections of the network. We investigate a multi-group epidemic model with age structure in Section 4.2. The delay is of distributed type and occurs in both the network connections and the vertex systems. Our approach allows us to prove global stability for these complex systems.

# 4.1 A Patchy Single-Species Model with Finite Delays

In Chapter 3 we have applied the graph-theoretic approach to several spatial heterogeneous models in ecology and epidemiology. We assume that dispersal and travel among different patches happen instantaneously. A time delay, however, is natural to include in these models to incorporate the travel time from one patch to the other. The resulting models are systems of delay differential equations. Various complicated dynamical behaviors have been observed for these delay systems [70], such as delay induced instability and oscillations. In this section we demonstrate that our graph-theoretic approach can be applied to establish the global stability of these delay systems. As an example, a patchy single-species model with dispersal delay is investigated in the following.

In Section 3.2 we have studied the patchy single-species model

$$x'_{i} = x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}(x_{j} - \alpha_{ij}x_{i}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(4.1)

The couplings in system (4.1) are provided by dispersal among different patches and the dispersal is assumed to happen instantaneously. That is, the influence from patch j to patch i takes the form:

$$d_{ij}x_j - d_{ij}\alpha_{ij}x_i.$$

In this section, we assume that the populations require some time to travel among patches and thus the influence from patch j to patch i is given as follows:

$$d_{ij}e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}}x_j(t-\tau_{ij})-\delta_{ij}x_i(t).$$

Here  $\tau_{ij} \geq 0$  is the time which population takes to travel from patch j to patch i,  $\lambda_{ij} \geq 0$  represents the death rate during the travel, and  $\delta_{ij} \geq 0$  is the rate of population in patch i traveling to patch j. Therefore, system (4.1) can be generalized to the following coupled system on a network given by Figure 4.1:

$$x'_{i} = x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}}x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}) - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{ij}x_{i}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(4.2)

Takeuchi et al. [110] studied a special case of system (4.2) when  $f_i(x_i) = a_i - b_i x_i$  and proved the global stability of a positive equilibrium. Using the method of Lyapunov functionals and our graph-theoretic approach, we prove the global stability for system (4.2) with general functions  $f_i$ .

Denote  $\tau = \max\{\tau_{ij} : i, j = 1, 2, ..., n\}$ . Let C be the Banach space of

$$d_{ji}e^{-\lambda_{ji}\tau_{ji}}x_{i}(t-\tau_{ji}) - \delta_{ji}x_{j}$$

$$x'_{i} = x_{i}f_{i}(x_{i})$$

$$d_{ij}e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}}x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}) - \delta_{ij}x_{i}$$

Figure 4.1: A coupled single-species system with delays

continuous functions on  $[-\tau, 0]$  with uniform norm. We consider system (4.2) in the phase space

$$X = \prod_{i=1}^{n} C. \tag{4.3}$$

We consider positive initial conditions for system (4.2)

$$x_{i\,0} = \phi^i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(4.4)

where  $\phi^i \in C$  satisfies  $\phi^i(s) > 0$  for  $-\tau \leq s \leq 0$ . Let

$$\Delta = \{ (\phi^1(\cdot), \phi^2(\cdot), \dots, \phi^n(\cdot)) \in X \mid \phi^i(s) > 0, \forall s \in [-\tau, 0], i = 1, 2, \dots, n \}.$$

It can be verified that  $\Delta$  is positively invariant. We have the following globalstability result.

### **Theorem 4.1.** Suppose that the following assumptions hold.

- (1) The dispersal matrix  $(d_{ij})$  of (4.2) is irreducible.
- (2)  $f'_i(x_i) \leq 0$  for all  $x_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ , and there exists k such that  $f'_k(u) \neq 0$  in any open interval of  $\mathbb{R}_+$ .

Then, whenever a positive equilibrium  $E^*$  exists, it is unique and globally asymptotically stable in  $\Delta$ .

*Proof.* Let  $E^* = (x_1^*, x_2^*, \cdots, x_n^*), x_i^* > 0, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ , denote a positive equilibrium of (4.2). Then  $x_i^*$  satisfies

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{ij} = f_i(x_i^*) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij} e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}} \frac{x_j^*}{x_i^*}.$$
(4.5)

We show that  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Delta$ , and thus is unique. Set  $V_i: X \to \mathbb{R}_+$  defined as

$$\begin{aligned} V_i(\phi) &:= \sum_{\substack{j=1\\n}}^n d_{ij} e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}} \int_0^{\tau_{ij}} x_j^* \Phi\left(\frac{\phi^j(-r)}{x_j^*}\right) dr + x_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{\phi^i(0)}{x_i^*}\right) \\ &= \sum_{\substack{j=1\\n}}^n d_{ij} e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}} \int_0^{\tau_{ij}} \left(\phi^j(-r) - x_j^* - x_j^* \ln \frac{\phi^j(-r)}{x_j^*}\right) dr \\ &+ \phi^i(0) - x_i^* - x_i^* \ln \frac{\phi^i(0)}{x_i^*}. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that  $\Phi(x) = x - 1 - \ln x \ge 0$  for all x > 0 and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 1. Using integration by parts, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\tau_{ij}} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left( x_{j}(t-r) - x_{j}^{*} - x_{j}^{*} \ln \frac{x_{j}(t-r)}{x_{j}^{*}} \right) dr 
= -\int_{0}^{\tau_{ij}} \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \left( x_{j}(t-r) - x_{j}^{*} - x_{j}^{*} \ln \frac{x_{j}(t-r)}{x_{j}^{*}} \right) dr$$

$$= -\left( x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij}) - x_{j}(t) + x_{j}^{*} \ln \frac{x_{j}(t)}{x_{j}(t-\tau_{ij})} \right).$$
(4.6)

Direct calculation along with (4.5) and (4.6) yields

Let

$$a_{ij} = d_{ij}e^{-\lambda_{ij}\tau_{ij}}x_j^*,$$
$$F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \Phi\left(\frac{x_j}{x_j^*}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{x_i^*x_j(\cdot - \tau_{ij})}{x_ix_j^*}\right),$$

and

$$G_i(x_i) = -\Phi\Big(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\Big).$$

Then we have

$$\overset{\bullet}{V_i} \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j),$$

and

$$F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) - \Phi\left(\frac{x_i^* x_j(\cdot - \tau_{ij})}{x_i x_j^*}\right) \\ \leq G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j).$$

Here we use the fact:  $(x_i - x_i^*)(f(x_i) - f(x_i^*)) \leq 0$ . We have shown that  $V_i$ ,  $F_{ij}$ ,  $G_i$ , and  $a_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 2.6 and Corollary 2.8. Therefore,

$$V(x_1(\cdot),\cdots,x_n(\cdot)) = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i(x_i(\cdot))$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6 is a Lyapunov functional for (4.2), namely,

• 
$$V \leq 0$$
 for all  $(x_1(\cdot), \cdots, x_n(\cdot)) \in \Delta$ .

Using a similar argument as in Section 3.1, we can show that  $\overset{\bullet}{V} = 0$  if and only if  $x_i = x_i^*$  for all *i*. By the LaSalle-Lyapunov Theorem (see [75, Theorem 3.4.7] or [43, Theorem 5.3.1]), we conclude that  $E^*$  is globally attractive in  $\Delta$ . Furthermore, it can be verified that  $E^*$  is locally stable using the same proof as one for Corollary 5.3.1 in [43]. Therefore,  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Delta$ . This completes the proof of Theorem 4.1.

When  $f_i(x_i) = a_i - b_i x_i$  for all *i*, Theorem 4.1 contains an earlier result in [110] where the global stability of  $E^*$  was proved under the condition that  $b_i > 0$  for all *i* while Theorem 4.1 only requires  $b_k > 0$  for some *k*.

When dispersal delays are incorporated into ordinary differential equation models (3.12) and (3.14), we obtain a patchy predator-prey model with dispersal delays and a patchy SIR epidemic model with dispersal delays. We remark that the same proof of Theorem 4.1 can be carried out to prove the global-stability of these delay systems.

# 4.2 A Multi-Group Epidemic Model with Infinite Distributed Delay

In this section, we consider a multi-group epidemic model that describes the disease spread in a heterogeneous host population with general age-structure and varying infectivity. The host population is divided into several homogeneous groups. Let  $S_i$ ,  $E_i$ ,  $I_i$  and  $R_i$  denote the susceptible, infected but non-infectious, infectious, and recovered populations in the *i*-th group, respectively. Let  $a_i(t,r)$  denote the population of infectious individuals in the *i*-th group with respect to the age of infection r at time t, and  $I_i(t) = \int_{r=0}^{\infty} a_i(t,r) dr$ . Let  $h_i(r) \ge 0$  be a continuous kernel function that represents the infectivity at the age of infection r. The disease incidence in the *i*-th group, assuming a bilinear incidence form, can be calculated as

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_i(t) \int_{r=0}^{\infty} h_j(r) a_j(t,r) dr, \qquad (4.8)$$

where the sum takes into account of cross-infections from all groups. In the special case  $h_i(r) \equiv 1$ , the incidence in (4.8) becomes  $\sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} S_i(t) I_j(t)$ . Therefore, we consider the following system of differential equations

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} h_{j}(r) a_{j}(t, r) dr - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i},$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} h_{j}(r) a_{j}(t, r) dr - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i},$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i} E_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i}) I_{i},$$

$$R'_{i} = \gamma_{i} I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{R} R_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$
(4.9)

Here all parameter values are assumed to be nonnegative and  $\Lambda_i, \mu_i^S, \mu_i^E > 0$ for all *i*. For detailed discussions of the model, we refer the reader to [37, 101] and references therein. Note that

$$\left( \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial r} \right) a_i(t, r) = -(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i) a_i(t, r), a_i(t, 0) = \epsilon_i E_i(t),$$

whose solution is

$$a_i(t,r) = a_i(t-r,0)e^{-(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)r} = \epsilon_i E_i(t-r)e^{-(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)r}.$$
 (4.10)

Substituting (4.10) into (4.9) we obtain

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} h_{j}(r) \epsilon_{j} E_{j}(t-r) e^{-(\mu_{j}^{I}+\gamma_{j})r} dr - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i},$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} h_{j}(r) \epsilon_{j} E_{j}(t-r) e^{-(\mu_{j}^{I}+\gamma_{j})r} dr - (\mu_{i}^{E}+\epsilon_{i}) E_{i},$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i} E_{i} - (\mu_{i}^{I}+\gamma_{i}) I_{i},$$

$$R'_{i} = \gamma_{i} I_{i} - \mu_{i}^{R} R_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$
(4.11)

Since the variables  $I_i$  and  $R_i$  do not appear in the first two equations of (4.11), we can consider the following reduced system with distributed time delays and general kernel functions

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i},$$
  

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$
(4.12)

Here the kernel function  $f_i(r) \ge 0$  is continuous and  $\int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) dr = \xi_i > 0$ . While this system is derived from a general age-structured model (4.9), it can also be interpreted as a multi-group model for an infectious disease whose latent period r in hosts has a general probability density function  $\frac{1}{\xi_i} f_i(r)$ , for the *i*-th group.

System (4.12) can be regarded as a coupled system of delay differential equations on a network; see Figure 4.2 for more details. We will establish the global dynamics of system (4.12).



Figure 4.2: A multi-group model with delays

The basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is defined as the expected number of secondary cases produced in an entirely susceptible population by a typical infected individual during its entire infectious period [27]. Intuitively, if  $\mathcal{R}_0 <$ 1, the disease dies out from the host population, and if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , the disease will persist. Let  $S_i^0 = \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}$  for all *i*. The next generation matrix for system (4.12) is

$$M_0 = \left(\frac{\beta_{ij}S_i^0\xi_j}{\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i}\right)_{n \times n}.$$
(4.13)

Motivated by [27, 113, 118], we define the basic reproduction number as the spectral radius of  $M_0$ ,

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(M_0). \tag{4.14}$$

We make the following assumption on the kernel function  $f_i$  in (4.12)

$$\int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) e^{\lambda_i r} dr < \infty, \qquad (4.15)$$

where  $\lambda_i$  is a positive number, i = 1, 2, ..., n. Define the following Banach

space of fading memory type (see e.g. [9] and references therein)

$$C_{i} = \left\{ \phi \in C((-\infty, 0], \mathbb{R}) \mid s \mapsto \phi(s)e^{\lambda_{i}s} \text{ is uniformly continuous on } (-\infty, 0], \\ \text{and } \sup_{s \leq 0} |\phi(s)|e^{\lambda_{i}s} < \infty \right\},$$

$$(4.16)$$

with norm  $||\phi||_i = \sup_{s \leq 0} |\phi(s)| e^{\lambda_i s}$ . For  $\psi \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$ , let  $\psi_t \in C_i$  be such that  $\psi_t(s) = \psi(t+s), s \in (-\infty, 0]$ . Let  $S_{i,0} \in \mathbb{R}_+$  and  $\phi_i \in C_i$  such that  $\phi_i(s) \geq 0, s \in (-\infty, 0]$ . We consider solutions of system (4.12),  $(S_1(t), E_{1t}, \cdots, S_n(t), E_{nt})$  with initial conditions

$$S_i(0) = S_{i,0}, \quad E_{i\,0} = \phi^i, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (4.17)

Standard results of functional differential equations (see [9, Theorem 2.1]) imply that  $E_{it} \in C_i$  for all t > 0. We consider system (4.12) in the phase space

$$X = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left( \mathbb{R} \times C_i \right). \tag{4.18}$$

It can be verified that solutions of (4.12) in X with initial conditions (4.17) remain nonnegative. In particular,  $S_i(t) > 0$  for all t > 0. From the first equation of (4.12), we obtain

$$S_i'(t) \le \Lambda_i - \mu_i^S S_i(t).$$

Hence,

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} S_i(t) \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}.$$

For each i, adding the two equations in (4.12) gives

$$(S_i(t) + E_{it}(0))' \le \Lambda_i - \mu_i^* (S_i(t) + E_{it}(0)),$$

where  $\mu_i^* = \min\{\mu_i^S, \mu_i^E + \epsilon_i\}$ . Hence, we have

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} (S_i(t) + E_{it}(0)) \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^*}.$$

Therefore, the following set is positively invariant for system (4.12).

$$\Theta = \left\{ (S_1, E_1(\cdot), \cdots, S_n, E_n(\cdot)) \in X \mid 0 \le S_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}, \ 0 \le S_i + E_i(0) \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^*}, \\ E_i(s) \ge 0, \forall s \in (-\infty, 0], i = 1, \dots, n \right\}.$$
(4.19)

Let

$$\overset{\circ}{\Theta} = \left\{ (S_1, E_1(\cdot), \cdots, S_n, E_n(\cdot)) \in X \mid 0 < S_i < \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}, \ 0 < S_i + E_i(0) < \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^*}, \\ E_i(s) > 0, \forall s \in (-\infty, 0], i = 1, \dots, n \right\}.$$

$$(4.20)$$

It can be shown that  $\overset{\circ}{\Theta}$  is the interior of  $\Theta$ .

The equilibria of (4.12) are the same as those of the associated ODE system

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} \xi_{j} S_{i} E_{j} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i},$$
  

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} \xi_{j} S_{i} E_{j} - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(4.21)

System (4.21) is similar to a multi-group SIR model considered in [36] with  $E_i$  relabeled as  $I_i$ . Results established in [36] can be readily applied to system (4.21). In the positively invariant region

$$\Gamma = \left\{ (S_1, E_1, \cdots, S_n, E_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+ \mid S_i \leq \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}, S_i + E_i \leq \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^*}, 1 \leq i \leq n \right\},$$
(4.22)

system (4.21) has two possible equilibria: the disease-free equilibrium  $P_0 = (S_1^0, 0, \dots, S_n^0, 0)$ , where  $S_i^0 = \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}$ , and the endemic equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, E_1^$ 

 $\cdots, S_n^*, E_n^*$ , where  $S_i^*, E_i^* > 0$  and satisfy

$$\Lambda_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} \xi_j S_i^* E_j^* + \mu_i^S S_i^*, \qquad (4.23)$$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} \xi_j S_i^* E_j^* = (\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i) E_i^*, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(4.24)

We assume that the transmission matrix  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible. This is equivalent to assuming that for any two distinct groups *i* and *j*, individuals in  $E_j$  can infect those in  $S_i$  directly or indirectly. The following result is proved in [36].

**Proposition 4.2** (Guo, Li, Shuai [36]). Assume that  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible.

- (1) If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then  $P_0$  is the only equilibrium for system (4.21) and it is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Gamma$ .
- (2) If R<sub>0</sub> > 1, then P<sub>0</sub> is unstable and there exists a unique endemic equilibrium P\* for system (4.21). Furthermore, P\* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ.

Since the delay system (4.12) and the ODE system (4.21) share the same equilibria, the following result follows from Proposition 4.2.

**Proposition 4.3.** Assume that  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible.

- (1) If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then  $P_0$  is the only equilibrium for system (4.12) in  $\Theta$ .
- (2) If R<sub>0</sub> > 1, then there exist two equilibria for system (4.12) in Θ: the disease-free equilibrium P<sub>0</sub> and a unique endemic equilibrium P\* defined by equations (4.23) and (4.24).

The global dynamics of system (4.12) are completely established in the following result.

**Theorem 4.4.** Assume that  $B = (\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible.

- (1) If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then the disease-free equilibrium  $P_0$  of system (4.12) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Theta$ . If  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then  $P_0$  is unstable.
- (2) If  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then the endemic equilibrium  $P^*$  of system (4.12) is globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Theta}$ .

Biologically, Theorem 4.4 implies that, if the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then the disease always dies out from all groups; if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then the disease always persists in all groups at the unique endemic equilibrium level, irrespective of the initial conditions.

Theorem 4.4 includes several previous results. Choose the kernel function as

$$f_i(r) = \epsilon_i e^{-(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)r}$$

and let  $\tilde{I}_i = \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) E_i(t-r) dr$ . Then (4.12) takes the form

$$S'_i = \Lambda_i - \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} S_i \tilde{I}_j - \mu_i^S S_i,$$

$$E'_i = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} S_i \tilde{I}_j - (\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i) E_i.$$

Using integration by parts we obtain

$$\tilde{I}'_i = \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) \frac{\partial E_i(t-r)}{\partial t} dr = -\int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) \frac{\partial E_i(t-r)}{\partial r} dr = \epsilon_i E_i - (\mu_i^I + \gamma_i) \tilde{I}_i.$$

System (4.12) is thus reduced to a multi-group SEIR model governed by the system of ordinary differential equations considered in [37]. Note that

$$\int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_i(r) dr = \frac{\epsilon_i}{\mu_i^I + \gamma_i},$$

and the basic reproduction number in (4.14) becomes

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho \left( \frac{\beta_{ij} \epsilon_i \Lambda_i}{(\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i)(\mu_i^I + \gamma_i)\mu_i^S} \right)_{1 \le i,j \le n},$$

which agrees with that given in [36, 37]. Thus the global stability results in [36, 37] are special cases of Theorem 4.4.

In the case n = 1, system (4.12) reduces to a single-group SEIR or SIR model with distributed delays studied in [11, 12, 14, 88, 93, 94, 101]. Theorem 4.4 generalizes the global stability results in [93, 94] to multi-group models.

### Proof of Theorem 4.4-(1):

Since B is irreducible, we know that  $M_0$ , as defined in (4.13), is also irreducible, and has a positive left eigenvector  $(\omega_1, \omega_2, \dots, \omega_n)$  corresponding to the spectral radius  $\rho(M_0) > 0$ . Let

$$a_i = \frac{\omega_i}{\mu_i^E + \epsilon_i}$$
 and  $\alpha_i(r) = \int_{\sigma=r}^{\infty} f_i(\sigma) d\sigma$ .

Consider a Lyapunov functional

$$L = \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_i \left( S_i^0 \Phi\left(\frac{S_i}{S_i^0}\right) + E_i + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_i^0 \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \alpha_j(r) E_j(\cdot - r) dr \right).$$
(4.25)

Note that  $\Lambda_i = \mu_i^S S_i^0$ ,  $\alpha_i(0) = \int_{\sigma=0}^{\infty} f_i(\sigma) d\sigma = \xi_i$ , and  $\Phi(x) \ge 0$  for all x > 0 with equality holding if and only if x = 1. Differentiating L along the solution
of system (4.12) and using integration by parts, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \overset{\bullet}{L} &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \Big( \Lambda_{i} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i} - \Lambda_{i} \frac{S_{i}^{0}}{S_{i}} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr + \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{0} \\ &- (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{j}(r) \frac{\partial E_{j}(t-r)}{\partial t} dr \Big) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \Big[ \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{0} \Big( 2 - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{0}} - \frac{S_{i}^{0}}{S_{i}} \Big) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr \\ &- (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{j}(r) \Big( - \frac{\partial E_{j}(t-r)}{\partial r} \Big) dr \Big] \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \Big[ \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{0} \Big( 2 - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{0}} - \frac{S_{i}^{0}}{S_{i}} \Big) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr \\ &- (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{0} \Big( \xi_{j} E_{j} - \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr \Big) \Big] \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{\omega_{i}}{\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}} \Big( \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} \xi_{j} S_{i}^{0} E_{j} - (\mu_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}) E_{i} \Big) \\ &= (\omega_{1}, \omega_{2}, \cdots, \omega_{n}) (M_{0} E - E) \\ &= (\rho(M_{0}) - 1)(\omega_{1}, \omega_{2}, \cdots, \omega_{n}) E \leq 0, \quad \text{if } \mathcal{R}_{0} \leq 1. \end{split}$$

Here  $E(t) = (E_1(t), E_2(t), \cdots, E_n(t))^T$ . Denote

$$Y = \{ (S_1, E_1(\cdot), \cdots, S_n, E_n(\cdot)) \in \Theta \mid \stackrel{\bullet}{L} = 0 \},\$$

and Z be the largest compact invariant set in Y. We will show  $Z = \{P_0\}$ . From (4.26),  $\overset{\bullet}{L} = 0$  implies  $S_i(t) \equiv S_i^0 = \frac{\Lambda_i}{\mu_i^S}$  for each *i*. Hence, from the first equation of (4.12), we obtain

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_j(r) E_j(t-r) dr = 0,$$

and thus

$$\beta_{ij} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_j(r) E_j(t-r) dr = 0,$$

for all t > 0 and  $1 \le i, j \le n$ . Then, by irreducibility of B, for each j, there

exists  $i \neq j$  such that  $\beta_{ij} \neq 0$ , thus for all t > 0

$$\int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_j(r) E_j(t-r) dr = 0.$$

This implies that in Z,  $E_{jt}(s) = 0$  for all  $s \in (-\infty, 0], j = 1, 2, ..., n$ . Therefore,  $Z = \{P_0\}$ .

Using the LaSalle-Lyapunov Theorem [38, 43, 75] and a similar argument as in Section 4.1, we conclude that  $P_0$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Theta$ if  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ . On the other hand, if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then -L serves as a Lyapunov functional for system (4.12). The same proof as in Theorem 5.3.3 of [43] can be used to show that  $P_0$  is unstable. This establishes Theorem 4.4-(1).

#### Proof of Theorem 4.4-(2):

The global stability of the endemic equilibrium of the single-group model with delays has been proved in [93, 94]. In the following, we consider the case  $n \geq 2$ . Let  $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, E_n^*)$  denote the unique endemic equilibrium of system (4.12). Set  $V_i : X \to \mathbb{R}_+$  defined as

$$V_{i}(S_{1}, \phi_{1}, \cdots, S_{n}, \phi_{n}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{j}(r) E_{j}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{\phi_{j}(-r)}{E_{j}^{*}}\right) dr + S_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}}\right) + E_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{\phi_{i}(0)}{E_{i}^{*}}\right) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} \alpha_{j}(r) \left(\phi_{j}(-r) - E_{j}^{*} - E_{j}^{*} \ln \frac{\phi_{j}(-r)}{E_{j}^{*}}\right) dr + S_{i} - S_{i}^{*} - S_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} + \phi_{i}(0) - E_{i}^{*} - E_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{\phi_{i}(0)}{E_{i}^{*}},$$

$$(4.27)$$

and

$$\alpha_j(r) = \int_{\sigma=r}^{\infty} f_j(\sigma) d\sigma.$$

Differentiating  $V_i$  along the solution of system (4.12), and using the equilibrium

equations (4.23), (4.24) and integration by parts, we obtain

$$\begin{split} ^{\bullet} V_{i} &= \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{*} \left( 2 - \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} E_{j}^{*} \left[ a_{j} \left( 2 - \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} - \frac{E_{i}}{E_{i}^{*}} + \frac{E_{j}}{E_{j}^{*}} \right) \\ &- \frac{S_{i} E_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}^{*} E_{i} E_{j}^{*}} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) E_{j}(t-r) dr - \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) \ln \frac{E_{j}(t)}{E_{j}(t-r)} dr \right] \\ &= \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{*} \left( 2 - \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} E_{j}^{*} \int_{r=0}^{\infty} f_{j}(r) \left[ \Phi \left( \frac{E_{j}}{E_{j}^{*}} \right) - \Phi \left( \frac{E_{i}}{E_{i}^{*}} \right) \right. \end{split}$$
(4.28)  
$$&- \Phi \left( \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}} \right) - \Phi \left( \frac{S_{i} E_{i}^{*} E_{j}(t-r)}{S_{i}^{*} E_{i} E_{j}^{*}} \right) \right] dr \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} E_{j}^{*} \left( \Phi \left( \frac{E_{j}}{E_{j}^{*}} \right) - \Phi \left( \frac{E_{i}}{E_{i}^{*}} \right) \right). \end{split}$$

In the above derivation, we have used two facts:  $\frac{S_i^*}{S_i} + \frac{S_i}{S_i^*} \ge 2$  with equality holding if and only if  $S_i = S_i^*$ , and  $1 - x + \ln x \le 0$  for all x > 0 with equality holding if and only if x = 1. Let

$$a_{ij} = \beta_{ij} S_i^* E_j^*$$

and

$$G_i(I_i) = -\Phi\Big(\frac{E_i}{E_i^*}\Big).$$

Then

•  
$$V_i \le \sum_{j=1}^n a_j (G_i(I_i) - G_j(I_j)).$$

Therefore,  $V_i, G_i, a_{ij}$  satisfy the assumptions of Corollary 2.8, and the functional

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(S_i, E_i(\cdot))$$

as defined in Theorem 2.6 is a Lyapunov functional for (4.12), namely,

• 
$$V \leq 0$$
 for all  $(S_1, I_1(\cdot), \cdots, S_n, I_n(\cdot)) \in \overset{\circ}{\Theta}$ .

Using a similar argument as in Section 3.1, we can show that the only compact

invariant set where  $\overset{\bullet}{V} = 0$  is the singleton  $\{P^*\}$ . By the LaSalle-Lyapunov Theorem for delayed systems [38, 43, 75] and a similar argument as in Section 4.1, we conclude that  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\overset{\circ}{\Theta}$  if  $R_0 > 1$ . This establishes Theorem 4.4-(2).

# Chapter 5. Applications to Stochastic Differential Equation Models

In this chapter we show that the graph-theoretic approach is applicable to complex systems that incorporate stochastic disturbances. Stochastic differential equations are used to describe vertex dynamics under stochastic perturbations. The network is kept as deterministic. The resulting models are coupled systems of stochastic differential equations on deterministic networks. We investigate how large random perturbations can be allowed in a stable system so that the perturbed system remains stable.

#### 5.1 Preliminaries

In this section, we recall some results from basic theory of stochastic differential equations which we will use in later sections. For more detailed discussions, we refer to [4, 32, 33, 62, 72, 89, 97].

Consider an autonomous n-dimensional stochastic differential equation

$$dx(t) = f(x(t))dt + g(x(t))dW(t)$$
(5.1)

on  $t \ge 0$  with initial value  $x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . Here both  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^m$ and  $g : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^{m \times d}$  are locally Lipschitz continuous functions and W is a *d*-dimensional Wiener process defined on the probability space  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P)$ . Customarily,  $\frac{dW(t)}{dt}$  is called *white noise*. It is known that system (5.1) always has a unique continuous solution  $x(t; x_0), 0 \leq t \leq T$ , for some T > 0 (see [33, page 76], [89, pages 56 and 58], or [109, Theorem 1]).

Assume that for some  $x^* \in \mathbb{R}^m$  we have  $f(x^*) = 0$  and  $g(x^*) = 0$  so that  $x = x^*$  is an *equilibrium* or a *trivial solution* of (5.1). The equilibrium  $x = x^*$  is called *stochastically stable* if for each pair of  $\epsilon > 0$  and r > 0, there exists a  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|x_0 - x^*| < \delta$  implies

$$P\{|x(t;x_0)| < r \text{ for all } t \ge 0\} \ge 1 - \epsilon.$$
 (5.2)

The equilibrium  $x = x^*$  is called *stochastically globally asymptotically stable* in  $\mathbb{R}^m$  if it is stochastically stable and for  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , the solution  $x(t; x_0) \to x^*$ a.s. as  $t \to \infty$ , namely,  $P\{\lim_{t\to\infty} x(t; x_0) = x^*\} = 1$ .

The method of Lyapunov functions has been developed to establish stability for stochastic differential equations. Let  $V : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}_+$  be a continuously twice differentiable function. Define an operator associated with system (5.1) as

$$\mathcal{L}V(x) = V_x(x)f(x) + \frac{1}{2}trace[g^T(x)V_{xx}(x)g(x)].$$
(5.3)

Then Itô's formula [59] states

$$dV(x(t)) = \mathcal{L}V(x(t))dt + V_x(x(t))g(x(t))dW(t).$$
(5.4)

**Theorem 5.1.** Suppose that  $V(x) \ge 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ , V(x) = 0 if and only if  $x = x^*$ , and  $V(x) \to \infty$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . If  $\mathcal{L}V(x) \le 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $\mathcal{L}V(x) = 0$  if and only if  $x = x^*$ , then the equilibrium  $x = x^*$  is stochastically globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^m$ .

Theorem 5.1 is a special case of Theorem 4.4 in [62] and Theorem 11.2.8 in [89]. We refer the reader to [62, 89] for its proof.

#### 5.2 A Patchy Predator-Prey Model with Random Perturbations

In this section, we investigate the effect of the random perturbations to the stability of the positive equilibrium of the following patchy predator-prey model

$$x'_{i} = (r_{i} - b_{i}x_{i} - e_{i}y_{i})x_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}x_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{ij}x_{i},$$
  

$$y'_{i} = (-\gamma_{i} - \mu_{i}y_{i} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i})y_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.5)

System (5.5) has been investigated in Section 3.4. Here  $r_i, b_i, e_i, \gamma_i, \mu_i, \epsilon_i, d_{ij}, \delta_{ij}$ are nonnegative parameters. Suppose that there exists a positive equilibrium  $E^* = (x_1^*, y_1^*, \dots, x_n^*, y_n^*)$  to system (5.5), where  $x_i^*, y_i^*, 1 \le i \le n$ , satisfy the equilibrium equations

$$r_{i} - b_{i}x_{i}^{*} - e_{i}y_{i}^{*} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}\frac{x_{j}^{*}}{x_{i}^{*}} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{ij} = 0,$$
  
$$-\gamma_{i} - \mu_{i}y_{i}^{*} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i}^{*} = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.6)

By Theorem 3.4,  $E^*$  is globally asymptotically stable provided that  $(d_{ij})$  is irreducible and for some k either  $b_k > 0$  or  $\mu_k > 0$ . Assume that system (5.5) endures the random perturbations in the form of

$$\sigma_i x_i (x_i - x_i^*) \frac{dW_i(t)}{dt}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(5.7)

and

$$\eta_i y_i (y_i - y_i^*) \frac{dZ_i(t)}{dt}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (5.8)

Here  $W_i, Z_i, 1 \le i \le n$ , are independent 1-dimensional Wiener processes. The perturbation terms (5.7), (5.8), are chosen such that random perturbations disappear at the positive equilibrium  $E^*$  as we are particularly interested in the randomly perturbed dynamical behavior near  $E^*$ . Thus the perturbed

$$d_{ji}x_{i} - \delta_{ji}x_{j}$$

$$d_{ij}x_{i} - \delta_{ji}x_{j}$$

$$d_{ij}x_{j} - \delta_{ij}x_{i}$$

$$d_{ij}x_{j} - \delta_{ij}x_{i} + \delta_{ij}x_{j}(x_{j} - x_{j}^{*})dW_{j}(t)$$

Figure 5.1: A coupled predator-prey system with random perturbations system can be written as follows

$$dx_{i} = \left( (r_{i} - b_{i}x_{i} - e_{i}y_{i})x_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}x_{j} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \delta_{ij}x_{i} \right) dt + \sigma_{i}x_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})dW_{i}(t),$$
  

$$dy_{i} = (-\gamma_{i} - \mu_{i}y_{i} + \epsilon_{i}x_{i})y_{i}dt + \eta_{i}y_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})dZ_{i}(t), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(5.9)

For any given initial conditions  $(x_1(0), y_1(0), \cdots, x_n(0), y_n(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  to system (5.9), there is a unique solution  $(x_1(t), y_1(t), \cdots, x_n(t), y_n(t)), 0 < t < T$ , for some T > 0. Note that  $E^*$  is also an equilibrium of (5.9).

System (5.9) can be regarded as a coupled system of stochastic differential equations on a network; see Figure 5.1. Each vertex represents one patch, vertex dynamics is given by a scalar stochastic differential equation, and the couplings among vertices are provided by the travel among patches. In the following result, using the graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2, we are able to build a Lyapunov function for system (5.9). We prove that the solution to system (5.9) exists for all t > 0 and the positive equilibrium is stochastically globally asymptotically stable.

**Theorem 5.2.** Assume that  $(d_{ij})$  is irreducible and  $b_i > \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i^2 x_i^*$  and  $\mu_i > \frac{1}{2}\eta_i^2 y_i^*$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., n. Then  $E^*$  is stochastically globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ . *Proof.* We first show that for any initial value problem to system (5.9) with initial value  $(x_1(0), y_1(0), \dots, x_n(0), y_n(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ , the unique solution  $(x_1(t), y_1(t), \dots, x_n(t), y_n(t))$  remains in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  for all  $t \ge 0$  with probability 1. The following proof is based on the combination of the graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2 and a stopping time method conducted by Mao and etc [90].

Let  $\tau_e$  denote the explosion time [32] of the solution  $(x_1(t), y_1(t), \dots, x_n(t), y_n(t))$ . We are going to show that  $\tau_e = \infty$  with probability 1. Without loss of generality, assume that  $x_i(0), y_i(0) \in [1/m_0, m_0]$ , for all  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , for some given positive integer  $m_0$ . For each integer  $m > m_0$ , define the stopping time [32]

$$\tau_m = \inf\{t \in [0, \tau_e] \mid \min_i \{x_i(t), y_i(t)\} \le \frac{1}{m} \text{ or } \max_i \{x_i(t), y_i(t)\} \ge m\}$$

For the empty set  $\emptyset$ , we use the convention that  $\inf \emptyset = \infty$ . Note that  $\tau_m$  is an increasing function of m, set  $\tau_{\infty} = \lim_{m \to \infty} \tau_m$  and  $\tau_{\infty} \leq \tau_e$ . We are going to show that  $\tau_{\infty} = \infty$  with probability 1, which consequently implies that  $\tau_e = \infty$  with probability 1 and thus the solution  $(x_1(t), y_1(t), \cdots, x_n(t), y_n(t))$ stays in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  for all  $t \geq 0$  with probability 1.

Suppose there exist T > 0 and  $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$  such that  $P\{\tau_{\infty} \leq T\} > \epsilon$ . Since  $\tau_m \leq \tau_{\infty}$ , we obtain

$$P\{\tau_m \le T\} \ge P\{\tau_\infty \le T\} > \epsilon,$$

for all  $m > m_0$ . Let  $\tau_m^* = \min\{T, \tau_m\}$ . For  $t \in [0, \tau_m^*]$ , define

$$V_{i}(x_{i}, y_{i}) = \epsilon_{i} x_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}}\right) + e_{i} y_{i}^{*} \Phi\left(\frac{y_{i}}{y_{i}^{*}}\right) = \epsilon_{i} \left(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*} - x_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}}\right) + e_{i} \left(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*} - y_{i}^{*} \ln \frac{y_{i}}{y_{i}^{*}}\right).$$

By Itô's formula, we obtain

$$dV_{i} = \epsilon_{i} \left(1 - \frac{x_{i}^{*}}{x_{i}}\right) dx_{i} + \epsilon_{i} \frac{x_{i}^{*}}{2x_{i}^{2}} (dx_{i})^{2} + e_{i} \left(1 - \frac{y_{i}^{*}}{y_{i}}\right) dy_{i} + e_{i} \frac{y_{i}^{*}}{2y_{i}^{2}} (dy_{i})^{2}$$

$$= \left[-\epsilon_{i} (b_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}x_{i}^{*})(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} - e_{i} (\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}y_{i}^{*})(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}\epsilon_{i}x_{j}^{*} \left(\frac{x_{j}}{x_{j}^{*}} - \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}} + 1 - \frac{x_{i}^{*}x_{j}}{x_{i}x_{j}^{*}}\right)\right] dt$$

$$+ \epsilon_{i}\sigma_{i} (x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} dW_{i}(t) + e_{i}\eta_{i} (y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2} dZ_{i}(t).$$
(5.10)

Let

$$a_{ij} = d_{ij}x_j^*,$$
  $F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = \frac{x_j}{x_j^*} - \frac{x_i}{x_i^*} + 1 - \frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*},$ 

and

$$G_i(x_i) = -\Phi\left(\frac{x_i}{x_i^*}\right).$$

Recall that  $\Phi(x) = x - 1 - \ln x \ge 0$  for all x > 0 and  $\Phi(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 1. It can be easily verified that  $F_{ij}$  and  $G_i$  satisfy the following relation:

$$F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) = G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j) - \Phi\left(\frac{x_i^* x_j}{x_i x_j^*}\right) \le G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j).$$

Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Then, by Theorem 2.3, we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(x_i, x_j) \le \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} (G_i(x_i) - G_j(x_j)) = 0.$$
(5.11)

Consider a Lyapunov function

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(x_i(t), y_i(t)).$$

Using (5.11) and Itô's formula, we obtain

$$dV = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} dV_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \Big[ -\epsilon_{i} (b_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}x_{i}^{*})(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} - e_{i} (\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}y_{i}^{*})(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} d_{ij}x_{j}^{*} \Big(\frac{x_{j}}{x_{j}^{*}} - \frac{x_{i}}{x_{i}^{*}} + 1 - \frac{x_{i}^{*}x_{j}}{x_{i}x_{j}^{*}}\Big) + \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_{i}\sigma_{i}^{2}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} + \frac{1}{2}e_{i}\eta_{i}^{2}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2}\Big]dt + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\epsilon_{i}\sigma_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2}dW_{i}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}e_{i}\eta_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2}dZ_{i}(t)$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\epsilon_{i}(b_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}x_{i}^{*})(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2}dt - \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}e_{i}(\mu_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}y_{i}^{*})(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2}dt + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\epsilon_{i}\sigma_{i}(x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2}dW_{i}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}e_{i}\eta_{i}(y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2}dZ_{i}(t).$$
(5.12)

Since  $b_i > \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i^2 x_i^*$  and  $\mu_i > \frac{1}{2}\eta_i^2 y_i^*$ , we have

$$dV \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \epsilon_i \sigma_i (x_i - x_i^*)^2 dW_i(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i e_i \eta_i (y_i - y_i^*)^2 dZ_i(t).$$

Integration from 0 to  $\tau_m^*$  yields

$$V(x_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), \cdots, x_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*})) - V(x_{1}(0), y_{1}(0), \cdots, x_{n}(0), y_{n}(0))$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}\epsilon_{i}\sigma_{i} \int_{0}^{\tau_{m}^{*}} (x_{i} - x_{i}^{*})^{2} dW_{i}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}e_{i}\eta_{i} \int_{0}^{\tau_{m}^{*}} (y_{i} - y_{i}^{*})^{2} dZ_{i}(t),$$

and thus

$$\mathbb{E}\{V(x_1(\tau_m^*), y_1(\tau_m^*), \cdots, x_n(\tau_m^*), y_n(\tau_m^*))\} \le V(x_1(0), y_1(0), \cdots, x_n(0), y_n(0)).$$
(5.13)

Since  $P\{\tau_m \leq T\} > \epsilon$  and  $\tau_m^* = \min\{T, \tau_m\},\$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\{V(x_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), \cdots, x_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*}))\}$$

$$\geq P\{\tau_{m} \leq T\}\mathbb{E}\{V(x_{1}(\tau_{m}), y_{1}(\tau_{m}), \cdots, x_{n}(\tau_{m}), y_{n}(\tau_{m}))\}$$

$$\geq \epsilon\mathbb{E}\{V(x_{1}(\tau_{m}), y_{1}(\tau_{m}), \cdots, x_{n}(\tau_{m}), y_{n}(\tau_{m}))\}.$$
(5.14)

Notice that from the definition of  $\tau_m$ , there exists k such that one of following identities holds:

$$x_k(\tau_m) = m, \quad x_k(\tau_m) = \frac{1}{m}, \quad y_k(\tau_m) = m, \quad y_k(\tau_m) = \frac{1}{m}.$$

Hence, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\{V(x_1(\tau_m), y_1(\tau_m), \cdots, x_n(\tau_m), y_n(\tau_m))\}$$
  

$$\geq \min\left\{c_k e_k V_k(m), c_k \epsilon_k V_k(m), c_k e_k V_k\left(\frac{1}{m}\right), c_k \epsilon_k V_k\left(\frac{1}{m}\right)\right\}.$$
(5.15)

Combining (5.13), (5.14), and (5.15) yields

$$V(x_{1}(0), y_{1}(0), \cdots, x_{n}(0), y_{n}(0))$$

$$\geq E\{V(x_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{1}(\tau_{m}^{*}), \cdots, x_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*}), y_{n}(\tau_{m}^{*}))\}$$

$$> \epsilon \min\left\{c_{k}e_{k}V_{k}(m), c_{k}\epsilon_{k}V_{k}(m), c_{k}e_{k}V_{k}\left(\frac{1}{m}\right), c_{k}\epsilon_{k}V_{k}\left(\frac{1}{m}\right)\right\}.$$

Letting  $m \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$V(x_1(0), y_1(0), \cdots, x_n(0), y_n(0)) > \infty$$

since  $V_k(m) \to \infty$  and  $V_k(\frac{1}{m}) \to \infty$ . This is a contradiction. Therefore,  $P\{\tau_e < \infty\} = 0$ , and the solution  $(x_1(t), y_1(t), \cdots, x_n(t), y_n(t))$  stays in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  for all  $t \ge 0$  with probability 1.

From (5.3), (5.4), and (5.12), we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}V \le -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \epsilon (b_i - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i^2 x_i^*) (x_i - x_i^*)^2 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i e_i (\mu_i - \frac{1}{2}\eta_i^2 y_i^*) (y_i - y_i^*)^2 \le 0$$

and  $\mathcal{L}V = 0$  if and only if  $x_i = x_i^*, y_i = y_i^*$  for all *i*. Therefore, by Theorem 5.1,  $E^*$  is stochastically globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ .

When  $\sigma_i = \eta_i = 0$  for all *i*, the noisy system (5.9) becomes system (3.12) discussed in Section 3.4. Biologically, our result indicates that the global-stability result holds as long as the noise is small.

### 5.3 A Multi-Group SIR Epidemic Model with Random Perturbations

In this section, we apply our graph-theoretic approach to a randomly perturbed multi-group epidemic model. We regard such a model as a coupled system of stochastic differential equations on a deterministic network. Each vertex represents a particular group of individuals, the vertex dynamics is given by a stochastic SIR model, and the coupling among vertices is provided by cross infections. See Figure 5.2. The resulting coupled system is given as follows:

$$dS_{i} = \left(\Lambda_{i} - \sum_{\substack{j=1\\n}}^{n} \beta_{ij}S_{i}I_{j} - \mu_{i}^{S}S_{i}\right)dt + \sigma_{i}\sqrt{S_{i}}(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})dW_{i}(t),$$
  

$$dI_{i} = \left(\Pi_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}S_{i}I_{j} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}\right)dt + \eta_{i}\sqrt{I_{i}}(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})dZ_{i}(t), \qquad (5.16)$$
  

$$i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$

When ignoring the random perturbations, i.e.,  $\sigma_i = \eta_i = 0$  for all *i*, the noisy system (5.16) reduces to the deterministic multi-group SIR model

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - \sum_{\substack{j=1\\n}}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} I_{j} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i},$$

$$I'_{i} = \Pi_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i} I_{j} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i}) I_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.17)

Suppose that there exists an endemic equilibrium  $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, I_n^*)$  to system (5.17), where  $S_i^*, I_i^*, 1 \le i \le n$ , satisfy the equilibrium equations

$$\Lambda_{i} - \sum_{\substack{j=1\\n}}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} I_{j}^{*} - \mu_{i}^{S} S_{i}^{*} = 0,$$

$$\Pi_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} S_{i}^{*} I_{j}^{*} - (\mu_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i}) I_{i}^{*} = 0, \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
(5.18)

Using the same method as in Section 3.6 and Section 4.2, we can prove that  $P^*$  is globally asymptotically stable as long as it exists. Note that  $P^*$  is also an equilibrium of (5.16).

Figure 5.2: A multi-group SIR model with random perturbations

In this section, using the graph-theoretic approach developed in Chapter 2, we are able to build a Lyapunov function for system (5.16) and thus establish global stability of system (5.16).

**Theorem 5.3.** Assume that  $(\beta_{ij})$  is irreducible and  $\mu_i^S > \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i^2 S_i^*$ ,  $\Pi_i > \frac{1}{2}\eta_i^2 (I_i^*)^2$ , i = 1, 2, ..., n. Then  $P^*$  is stochastically globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ . *Proof.* Set

$$V_i = S_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{S_i}{S_i^*}\right) + I_i^* \Phi\left(\frac{I_i}{I_i^*}\right) = S_i - S_i^* - S_i^* \ln \frac{S_i}{S_i^*} + I_i - I_i^* - I_i^* \ln \frac{I_i}{I_i^*}.$$

By Itô's formula, we obtain

$$dV_{i} = \left(1 - \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}}\right) dS_{i} + \frac{S_{i}^{*}}{2S_{i}^{2}} (dS_{i})^{2} + \left(1 - \frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}\right) dI_{i} + \frac{I_{i}^{*}}{2I_{i}^{2}} (dI_{i})^{2}$$

$$= \left[-\left(\mu_{i}^{S} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}S_{i}^{*}\right)\frac{(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})^{2}}{S_{i}} - \left(\Pi_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}(I_{i}^{*})^{2}\right)\frac{(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})^{2}}{I_{i}^{*}I_{i}}\right]$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}S_{i}^{*}I_{j}^{*}\left(2 - \frac{S_{i}}{S_{i}^{*}} - \frac{S_{i}I_{j}I_{i}^{*}}{S_{i}^{*}I_{j}^{*}I_{i}} + \frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}}\right]dt +$$

$$+ \sigma_{i}\frac{(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})^{2}}{\sqrt{S_{i}}}dW_{i}(t) + \eta_{i}\frac{(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})^{2}}{\sqrt{I_{i}}}dZ_{i}(t).$$
(5.19)

Let

$$a_{ij} = \beta_{ij} S_I^* I_j^*,$$
  
$$F_{ij}(S_i, I_i, I_j) = 2 - \frac{S_i}{S_i^*} - \frac{S_i I_j I_i^*}{S_i^* I_j^* I_i} + \frac{I_j}{I_j^*} - \frac{I_i}{I_i^*},$$

and

$$G_i(I_i) = -\Phi\Big(\frac{I_i}{I_i^*}\Big).$$

Then we have

$$F_{ij}(S_i, I_i, I_j) = G_i(I_i) - G_j(I_j) - \Phi\left(\frac{S_i^*}{S_i}\right) - \Phi\left(\frac{S_i I_j I_i^*}{S_i^* I_j^* I_i}\right) \\ \leq G_i(I_i) - G_j(I_j).$$

Let  $c_i$  be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element in the Laplacian matrix of  $(\mathcal{G}, A)$ , as given in Proposition 2.1. Then, by Theorem 2.3, we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} F_{ij}(S_i, S_j) \le \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} c_i a_{ij} (G_i(S_i) - G_j(S_j)) = 0.$$

Let

$$V = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i(S_i, I_i).$$
(5.20)

We thus have

$$dV = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} dV_{i}$$

$$\leq -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} (\mu_{i}^{S} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}S_{i}^{*}) \frac{(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})^{2}}{S_{i}} dt$$

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} (\Pi_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}(I_{i}^{*})^{2}) \frac{(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})^{2}}{I_{i}^{*}I_{i}} dt$$

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \sigma_{i} \frac{(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})^{2}}{\sqrt{S_{i}}} dW_{i}(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} \eta_{i} \frac{(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})^{2}}{\sqrt{I_{i}}} dX_{i}(t).$$
(5.21)

Since  $\mu_i^S > \frac{1}{2}\sigma_i^2 S_i^*$  and  $\Pi_i > \frac{1}{2}\eta_i^2 (I_i^*)^2$  for all i, we have

$$dV \le \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \sigma_i \frac{(S_i - S_i^*)^2}{\sqrt{S_i}} dW_i(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i \eta_i \frac{(I_i - I_i^*)^2}{\sqrt{I_i}} dX_i(t).$$

By similar arguments as in Section 5.2, we can show that for any initial value problem to system (5.16) with initial value  $(S_1(0), I_1(0), \dots, S_n(0), I_n(0)) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ , there is a unique solution  $(S_1(t), I_1(t), \dots, S_n(t), I_n(t))$  which almost surely remains in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$  for all  $t \geq 0$ . Moreover, we know

$$\mathcal{L}V \le -\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(\mu_{i}^{S} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{i}^{2}S_{i}^{*})\frac{(S_{i} - S_{i}^{*})^{2}}{S_{i}} - \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i}(\Pi_{i} - \frac{1}{2}\eta_{i}^{2}(I_{i}^{*})^{2})\frac{(I_{i} - I_{i}^{*})^{2}}{I_{i}^{*}I_{i}} \le 0$$

and  $\mathcal{L}V = 0$  if and only if  $S_i = S_i^*$ ,  $I_i = I_i^*$  for all *i*. Therefore, by Theorem 5.1,  $P^*$  is stochastically globally asymptotically stable in  $\mathbb{R}^{2n}_+$ .

## Chapter 6. Future Research Directions

Our graph-theoretic approach to the construction of Lyapunov functions for coupled systems on networks has several advantages.

- 1. Our approach is independent of specific forms of the vertex system. We have shown that our approach is applicable to vertex systems including second-order differential equations for mechanical or electrical oscillators, multi-species interacting models in ecology, and epidemic models for the spread and transmission of infectious diseases.
- 2. Our approach is independent of special structures of networks and specific forms of interactions. We show that our approach is applicable to mechanical or electrical networks in engineering, spatial dispersal networks in ecology, and disease-transmission and spatial spread networks in epidemiology. We have also shown that our approach is applicable to different forms of coupling including physical or electrical connections among oscillators, dispersal of species among patches or communities, and cross infections among different host groups in disease transmission.
- 3. Our approach is independent of particular forms of vertex Lyapunov functions. We show that our approach can work with vertex Lyapunov functions that are energy-type functions for electrical or me-

chanical oscillators or Volterra-type functions for ecological and epidemiological models.

We expect that our graph-theoretic approach can be further applied to much wider classes of mathematical models from many other areas of science and engineering.

Many mathematical questions regarding coupled systems on networks can be further investigated. As future research, I plan to investigate the following questions:

- Apply the graph-theoretic approach to investigate the global-stability problem in neural networks, chemical reaction networks, and control theory.
- Apply our approach to study synchronization problems for coupled oscillators.
- Extend our approach to coupled systems on multiple graphs.
- Investigate stability and bifurcation problems for coupled systems on random networks.

## Bibliography

- L. L. S. Allen, Persistence and extinction in single-species reactiondiffusion models, *Bull. Math. Biol.* (45) (1983) 209–227.
- [2] E. R. Alvarez-Buylla and R. García-Barrios, Models of patch dynamics in tropical forests, *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 8 (1993) 201–204.
- M. Arbib (Ed.), The Handbook of Brain Theory and Neural Network, MIT Press, Cambridge, 1989.
- [4] L. Arnold, Stochastic Differential Equations: Theory and Application, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1974.
- [5] J. Arino, J. R. Davis, D. Hartley, R. Jordan, J. M. Miller, and P. van den Driessche, A multi-species epidemic model with spatial dynamics, Math. Med. Biol. 22 (2005) 129–142.
- [6] J. Arino and P. van den Driessche, A multi-city epidemic model, Math. Popul. Stud. 10 (2003) 175–193.
- [7] J. Arino and P. van den Driessche, Disease spread in metapopulations, in: H. Brunner, X.-Q. Zhao, and X. Zou (Eds.), Nonlinear Dynamics and Evolution Equations, Fields Inst. Commun. Vol. 48, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, 2006, pp. 1–12.
- [8] J. Awrejcewicz, Bifurcation and Chaos in Coupled Oscillators, World Scientific, New Jersey, 1991.

- [9] F. V. Atkinson and J. R. Haddock, On determining phase spaces for functional differential equations, *Funkcial. Ekvac.* **31** (1988) 331–347.
- [10] E. Beretta and V. Capasso, Global stability results for a multigroup SIR epidemic model, in: T. G. Hallam, L. J. Gross, and S. A. Levin (Eds.), Mathematical Ecology, World Scientific, Teaneck, NJ, 1988, pp. 317–342.
- [11] E. Beretta, V. Capasso, and F. Rinaldi, Global stability results for a generalized Lotka-Volterra system with distributed delays: applications to predator-prey and to epidemic systems, J. Math. Biol. 26 (1988) 661– 688.
- [12] E. Beretta, T. Hara, W. Ma, and Y. Takeuchi, Global asymptotic stability of an SIR epidemic model with distributed time delay, Nonlinear Anal. 47 (2001) 4107–4115.
- [13] E. Beretta and Y. Takeuchi, Global stability of single-species diffusion Volterra models with continuous time delays, *Bull. Math. Biol.* 49 (1987) 431–448.
- [14] E. Beretta and Y. Takeuchi, Global stability of an SIR epidemic model with time delays, J. Math. Biol. 33 (1995) 250–260.
- [15] A. Berman and R. J. Plemmons, Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- [16] G. J. Butler, H. I. Freedman, and P. Waltman, Uniformly persistent systems, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 96 (1986) 425–430.
- [17] C. Bishop, Neural Networks for Pattern Recognition, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 1995.
- [18] F. Brauer and C. Castillo-Chavez, Mathematical Models in Population Biology and Epidemiology, Texts in Applied Mathematics, Vol. 40, Springer, Berlin, 2001.

- [19] F. Brauer, P. van den Driessche, and L. Wang, Oscillations in a patchy environment disease model, *Math. Biosci.* 215 (2008) 1–10.
- [20] F. Brauer, P. van den Driessche, and J. Wu (Eds.), Mathematical Epidemiology, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1945, Springer, Berlin, 2008.
- [21] N. G. Chetaev, Un théorèm sur l'instabilité, C. R. Acad. Sci. URSS
   1934 I (1934), 529–531.
- [22] S.-N. Chow, R. Conti, R. Johnson, J. Mallet-Paret, and R. Nussbaum, *Dynamical Systems*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1822, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.
- [23] L. O. Chua and T. Roska, Cellular Neural Networks and Visual Computing: Foundations and Applications, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [24] J. E. Cohen, F. Briand, and C. M. Newman, Community Food Webs: Data and Theory, Springer, Berlin, 1990.
- [25] M. Conrad, Stability of foodwebs and its relation to species diversity,
   J. Theoret. Biol. 34 (1972) 325-335.
- [26] W. A. Coppel, Dichotomies in Stability Theory, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 629, Springer, Berlin, 1978.
- [27] O. Diekmann, J. A. P. Heesterbeek, and J. A. J. Metz, On the definition and the computation of the basic reproduction ratio R<sub>0</sub> in models for infectious diseases in heterogeneous populations, J. Math. Biol. 28 (1990) 365–382.
- [28] A. Fall, A. Iggidr, G. Sallet, and J. J. Tewa, Epidemiological models and Lyapunov functions, *Math. Model. Nat. Phenom.* 2 (2007) 55–73.

- [29] B. Fiedler, M. Belhaq, and M. Houssni, Basins of attraction in strongly damped coupled mechanical oscillators: a global example, Z. angew. Math. Phys. 50 (1999) 282–300.
- [30] H. I. Freedman, Deterministic Mathematical Models in Population Ecology, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1980.
- [31] H. I. Freedman and J. W.-H. So, Global stability and persistence of simple food chains, Math. Biosci. 76 (1985) 69–86.
- [32] A. Friedman, Stochastic Differential Equations and Applications, Volume 1-2, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [33] T. C. Gard, Introduction to Stochastic Differential Equations, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1988.
- [34] B. S. Goh, Global stability in many-species systems, Amer. Naturalist 111 (1977) 135–143.
- [35] B. S. Goh, Global stability in a class of prey-predator models, Bull. Math. Biol. 40 (1978) 525-533.
- [36] H. Guo, M. Y. Li, and Z. Shuai, Global stability of the endemic equilibrium of multigroup SIR epidemic models, *Can. Appl. Math. Q.* 14 (2006) 259–284.
- [37] H. Guo, M. Y. Li, and Z. Shuai, A graph-theoretic approach to the method of global Lyapunov functions, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 136 (2008) 2793–2802.
- [38] J. R. Haddock, T. Krisztin, and J. Terjéki, Invariance principles for autonomous functional-differential equations, J. Integral Equations, 10 (1985) 123–136.
- [39] W. Hahn, Theory and Application of Liapunov's Direct Method, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 1963.

- [40] W. Hahn, Stability of Motion, Springer, New York, 1967.
- [41] J. K. Hale, Ordinary Differential Equations, 2nd Edition, Krieger, Huntington, 1980.
- [42] J. K. Hale, Diffusive coupling, dissipation, and synchronization, J. Dynam. Diff. Equat. 9 (1997) 1–52.
- [43] J. K. Hale and S. M. Verduyn Lunel, Introduction to Functional Differential Equations, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 99, Springer, New York, 1993.
- [44] F. Harary, *Graph Theory*, Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1969.
- [45] G. W. Harrison, Global stability of predator-prey interactions, J. Math. Biol. 8 (1979) 159–171.
- [46] G. W. Harrison, Global stability of food chains, Amer. Naturalist 114 (1979) 455–457.
- [47] P. Hartman, Ordinary Differential Equations, 2nd Edition, Birkhäuser, Boston, 1982.
- [48] A. Hastings, Dynamics of a single species in a spatially varying environment: The stabilizing role of high dispersal rates, J. Math. Biol. 16 (1982) 49–55.
- [49] H. W. Hethcote, An immunization model for a heterogeneous population, *Theor. Popu. Biol.* 14 (1978) 338–349.
- [50] H. W. Hethcote and H. R. Thieme, Stability of the endemic equilibrium in epidemic models with subpopulations, *Math. Biosci.* **75** (1985) 205– 227.
- [51] M. D. Holland and A. Hastings, Strong effect of dispersal network structure on ecological dynamics, *Nature* 456 (2008) 792–795.

- [52] Y. Hino, S. Murakami, and T. Naito, Functional Differential Equations with Infinite Delay, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1473, Springer, Berlin, 1991.
- [53] M. W. Hirsch, Systems of differential equations which are competitive or cooperative I: Limit set, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 13 (1982) 167–179.
- [54] M. W. Hirsch, Systems of differential equations that are competitive or cooperative VI: A local C<sup>r</sup> closing lemma for 3-dimensional systems, *Ergod. Theory Dynamical Sys.* **11** (1991) 443–454.
- [55] F. C. Hoppensteadt and E. M. Izhikevich, Weakly Connected Neural Networks, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 126, Springer, New York, 1997.
- [56] S.-B. Hsu, On global stability of a predator-prey systems, *Math. Biosci.* 39 (1978) 1–10.
- [57] S.-B. Hsu, A survey of constructing Lyapunov functions for mathematical models in population biology, *Taiwanese J. Math.* 9 (2005) 151–173.
- [58] W. Huang, K. L. Cooke, and C. Castillo-Chavez, Stability and bifurcation for a multiple-group model for the dynamics of HIV/AIDS transmission, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 52 (1992) 835–854.
- [59] K. Itô's, On Stochastic Differential Equations, Memoirs Amer. Math. Soc. Vol. 4, 1951.
- [60] Y. Jin and W. Wang, The effect of population dispersal on the spread of a disease, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 308 (2005) 343–364.
- [61] A. G. Kartsatos, Advanced Ordinary Differential Equations, Mariner Pub. Co., Tampa, 1980.
- [62] R. Z. Khas'minskii, Stochastic Stability of Differential Equations, Sijthoff & Noordhoff, Netherlands, 1980.

- [63] G. Kirchhoff, Uber die Auflösung der Gleichungen, auf welche man bei der Untersuchung der linearen Vertheilung galvanischer Ströme geführt wird, Ann. Phys. Chem. 72 (1847) 497–508.
- [64] D. E. Knuth, The Art of Computer Programming, Vol. 1, 3rd ed., Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1997.
- [65] A. Korobeinikov, Lyapunov functions and global stability for SIR and SIRS epidemiological models with non-linear transmission, *Bull. Math. Biol.* 68 (2006) 615–626.
- [66] A. Korobeinikov, Global properties of infectious disease models with nonlinear incidence, Bull. Math. Biol. 69 (2007) 1871–1886.
- [67] A. Korobeinikov and P. K. Maini, A Lyapunov function and global properties for SIR and SEIR epidemiological models with nonlinear incidence, *Math. Biosci. Eng.* 1 (2004) 57–60.
- [68] A. Korobeinikov and P. K. Maini, Nonlinear incidence and stability of infectious disease models, *Math. Med. Biol. A J. IMA* 22 (2005) 113–128.
- [69] A. Korobeinikov and G. C. Wake, Lyapunov functions and global stability for SIR, SIRS, and SIS epidemiological models, *Appl. Math. Lett.* 15 (2002) 955–960.
- [70] Y. Kuang, Delay Differential Equations with Applications in Population Dynamics, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1993.
- [71] Y. Kuang and Y. Takeuchi, Predator-prey dynamics in models of prey dispersal in two-patch environments, *Math. Biosci.* **120** (1994) 77-98.
- [72] H. J. Kushner, Stochastic Stability and Control, Academic Press, New York, 1967.

- [73] A. Lajmanovich and J. A. Yorke, A deterministic model for gonorrhea in a nonhomogeneous population, *Math. Biosci.* 28 (1976) 221–236.
- [74] J. P. LaSalle, The extent of asymptotic stability, *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 46 (1960) 363–365.
- [75] J. P. LaSalle, The Stability of Dynamical Systems, Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics, SIAM, Philadelphia, 1976.
- [76] S. A. Levin, Dispersion and population interactions, Amer. Naturalist 108 (1974) 207–228.
- [77] S. A. Levin, Population dynamic models in heterogeneous environments, Ann. Rev. Ecol. Syst. (7) (1976) 287–310.
- [78] M. Y. Li and J. S. Muldowney, Global stability for the SEIR model in epidemiology, *Math. Biosci.* **125** (1995) 155–164.
- [79] M. Y. Li and J. S. Muldowney, A geometric approach to global-stability problems, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 27 (1996) 1070–1083.
- [80] M. Y. Li and Z. Shuai, Global-stability problem for coupled systems of differential equations on networks, J. Differential Equations 248 (2010) 1–20.
- [81] M. Y. Li, Z. Shuai, and C. Wang, Global stability of multi-group epidemic models with distributed delays, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 361 (2010) 38–47.
- [82] M. Y. Li and L. Wang, Global stability in some SEIR epidemic models, in Mathematical Approaches for Emerging and Reemerging Infectious Diseases: Models, Methods, and Theory (Minneapolis, MN, 1999), pp 295–311, IMA Volume in Mathematics and its Applications, 126, Springer, New York, 2002.

- [83] X. Lin and J. W.-H. So, Global stability of the endemic equilibrium and uniform persistence in epidemic models with subpopulations, J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. B 34 (1993) 282–295.
- [84] A. L. Lloyd and R. M. May, Spatial heterogeneity in epidemic models, J. Theor. Biol. 179 (1996) 1-11.
- [85] A.M. Lyapunov, The General Problem of the Stability of Motion, Taylor & Francis, London, 1992. (English translation of the French version published in 1907 in Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse and reprinted as Vol. 17 in Ann. Math. Studies, Princetion in 1949; the French version is translated from the original Russian paper published in 1892 in Comm. Soc. Math. Kharkow.)
- [86] Z. Lu and Y. Takeuchi, Global asymptotic behavior in single-species discrete diffusion systems, J. Math. Biol. 32 (1993) 67–77.
- [87] J. Ma and P. van den Driessche, Case fatality proportion, Bull. Math. Biol. 70 (2008) 118-133.
- [88] W. Ma, Y. Takeuchi, T. Hara, and E. Beretta, Permanence of an SIR epidemic model with distributed time delays, *Tohoku Math. J.* 54 (2002) 581–591.
- [89] X. Mao, Stochastic Differential Equations and Applications, Horwood, Chichester, 1997.
- [90] X. Mao, G. Marion, and E. Renshaw, Environmental Brownian noise suppresses explosions in population dynamics, *Stochastic Process. Appl.* 97 (2002) 95–110.
- [91] R. M. May, Network structure and the biology of populations, Trends in Ecology and Evoluation, 21 (2006) 394–399.

- [92] R. M. May, Stability and Complexity in Model Ecosystems, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2001.
- [93] C. C. McCluskey, Global stability for an SEIR epidemiological model with varying infectivity and infinity delay, *Math. Biosci. Eng.* 6 (2009) 603–610.
- [94] C. C. McCluskey, Complete global stability for an SIR epidemic model with delay - distributed or discrete, *Nonlinear. Anal.* **11** (2010) 55–59.
- [95] J. W. Moon, *Counting Labelled Trees*, Canadian Mathematical Congress, Montreal, 1970.
- [96] J. S. Muldowney, Compound matrices and ordinary differential equations, *Rocky Mountain J. Math.* **20** (1990) 857–872.
- [97] B. Øksendal, Stochastic Differential Equations: An Introduction with Applications, 4th Edition, Springer, Berlin, 1995.
- [98] A. Okubo and S. A. Levin (Eds.), Diffusion and Ecological Problems: Modern Perspectives, 2nd Edition, Springer, New York, 2001.
- [99] R. Redheffer and Z. Zhou, Global asymptotic stability for a class of many-variable Volterra prey-predator systems, *Nonlinear Anal.* 5 (1981) 1309–1329.
- [100] J. C. Robinson, Infinite Dimensional Dynamical Systems: An Introduction to Dissipative Parabolic PDEs and the Theory of Global Attractors, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, UK, 2001.
- [101] G. Röst and J. Wu, SEIR epidemiological model with varying infectivity and finite delay, *Math. Biosci. Eng.* 5 (2008) 389–402.
- [102] N. Rouche, P. Habets, and M. Laloy, Stability Theory by Liapunov's Direct Method, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 22, Springer, New York, 1977.

- [103] M. Salmani and P. van den Driessche, A model for disease transmission in a patchy environment, *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B* 6 (2006) 185–202.
- [104] S. H. Saperstone, Semidynamical Systems in Infinite Dimensional Spaces, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 37, Springer, New York, 1981.
- [105] H. L. Smith, Systems of ordinary differential equations which generate an order preserving flow, SIAM Rev. 30 (1988) 87–113.
- [106] H. L. Smith, Monotone Dynamical Systems: An introduction to the theory of competitive and cooperative systems, Math. Surveys and Monographs, 41, Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, 1995.
- [107] R.V. Solé and J. Bascompte, Self-Organization in Complex Ecosystems, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2006
- [108] S. H. Strogatz, Exploring complex networks, Nature **410** (2001) 268– 276.
- [109] H. J. Sussmann, On the gap between deterministic and stochastic ordinary differential equations, *The Annals of Prob.*, 6 (1978) 19–41.
- [110] Y. Takeuchi, W. Wang, and Y. Saito, Global stability of population models with patch structure, Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl. 7 (2006) 235–247.
- [111] H. R. Thieme, Local stability in epidemic models for heterogeneous populations, in: V. Capasso, E. Grosso, and S. L. Paveri-Fontana (Eds.), Mathematics in Biology and Medicine, Lecture Notes in Biomathematics, Vol. 57, Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 185–189.
- [112] H. R. Thieme, Mathematics in Population Biology, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2003.

- [113] P. van den Driessche and J. Watmough, Reproduction numbers and sub-threshold endemic equilibria for compartmental models of disease transmission, *Math. Biosci.* 180 (2002) 29–48.
- [114] P. Waltman, A brief survey of persistence in dynamical systems, in: S. Busenberg and M. Martelli (Eds.), Delay Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 1475, Springer, Berlin, 1991, pp. 31–40.
- [115] W. Wang, Population dispersal and disease spread, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B 4 (2004) 797–804.
- [116] W. Wang, Epidemic models with population dispersal, in: Y. Takeuchi, Y. Iwasa, and K. Sato (Eds.), Mathemaitcs for Life Sciences and Medicine, pp 67–95, Springer, Berlin, 2007.
- [117] W. Wang and X.-Q. Zhao, An epidemic model in a patchy environment, Math. Biosci. 190 (2004) 97–112.
- [118] W. Wang and X.-Q. Zhao, An epidemic model with population dispersal and infection period, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 66 (2006) 1454–1472.
- [119] D. J. Watts and S. H. Strogatz, Collective dynamics of 'small-world' networks, *Nature* **393** (1998) 440–442.
- [120] D. B. West, Introduction to Graph Theory, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, 1996.
- [121] R. J. Williams and N. D. Martinez, Simple rules yield complex food webs, *Nature* 404 (2000) 180–183.
- [122] T. Yoshizawa, Stability Theory and the Existence of Periodic Solutions and Almost Periodic Solutions, Applied Mathematical Sciences, Vol. 14, Springer, New York, 1975.